University of Alberta

Energy Efficient Relay Network Design Using Power-Normalized SNR

by

Yichen Hao

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Master of Science in Communication

Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

©Yichen Hao Fall 2013 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

Dedicate to my beloved family

Abstract

Relay network designs have been widely studied in recent years. It is known that cooperative relay network can achieve cooperative diversity with the help of relays and improve the data rate and/or the reliability of the network. On the other hand, green communication design has also attracted significant attention due to the drastic increase in energy consumption. We are going to investigate green communication designs in relay network in our work.

In this thesis, we adopt a novel efficiency measure, the power-normalized received signal to noise ratio (PN-SNR) in relay network design for several scenarios and analyze the performance of the proposed designs. In single-relay network and multi-relay network with a sum relay power constraint, the PN-SNR maximization problem is formulated and solved. In multi-relay network with individual power constraint on each relay, we investigate both the basic PN-SNR maximization problem and the quality of service (QoS)-constrained PN-SNR maximization problem. Performance of the proposed designs is compared with the fixed relay power scheme and the SNR-maximization scheme analytically and numerically via simulation. Our results show that with the same average relay transmit power, the PN-SNR maximizing scheme is superior to the fixed relay power scheme not only in the PN-SNR but also in the outage probability for both single and multi-relay networks. Compared with SNR-maximizing scheme, it is significantly superior in PN-SNR with moderate degradation in outage probability. Our results reveal the potential of PN-SNR as efficiency measure in relay network design.

Acknowledgements

The author wishes to thank several people.

Foremost, I would like to express the deepest gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Yindi Jing. I truly appreciate the chance she offered to me for my Master of Science program and her funding for my research. Her patience, motivation, enthusiasm, and immense knowledge have encouraged me during my study and her guidance have helped me from time to time during my research and the writing of this thesis.

Besides my supervisor, I would like to thank Dr. Shahram ShahbazPanahi from University of Ontario Institute of Technology for his guidance on my works and the rest of my thesis defence committee members: Dr. Ivan Fair and Dr. Zukui Li for their patience and suggestions on my thesis.

My heartfelt appreciation goes to my mother Junping Zhang and my father Jingqi Hao for their support. My parents' solicitude was a great consolation to me and it was their encouragement that cheered me up when I found myself in times of troubles.

I would also like to show my special thanks to my wife Xiaozhen Zuo for her emotional support. My wife chose to marry me even if I was unable to make any promise, material or spiritual, and even if she was aware that we need to be parted by distance for two years. I couldn't have achieved the accomplishment without her understanding.

Last but not the least, I owe my deepest gratitude to my friends and colleagues: Jie Yang, Sijia Xu, Qian Wang, Zhou Zhang, Qian Cao, Jie Gao, Hao Fang, Chunyan Wu, Lijie Huang, Godfrey Okeke, Saman Atapattu and Arash Khabbazibasmenj for their encouragement and help during my graduate study.

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	1		
	1.1	Multipath Fading Channel Model	2		
	1.2	Diversity Techniques and MIMO System	4		
	1.3 Cooperative Communication and Relay Networks				
		1.3.1 Brief History of Cooperative Communication	6		
		1.3.2 Review on Related Works	7		
	1.4	Green Communication	9		
		1.4.1 Motivation and Background	9		
		1.4.2 Power-Normalized SNR	10		
	1.5	Contributions and Thesis Organization	12		
	1.6	Notation	13		
2	Sing	gle-Relay Network Design Using PN-SNR	15		
	2.1	System Model	15		
	2.2	Problem Formulation and Solution	17		
	2.3	2.3 Performance Evaluation			
	2.4	Comparison with Existing Schemes	20		
	2.5	Simulation	22		
	2.6	Summary	26		
3	Mu	lti-Relay Network Design Using PN-SNR Under			
	Sun	n Relay Power Constraint	27		

	3.1	System Model	. 27
	3.2	Problem Formulation and Solution	. 31
	3.3	Simulation	. 33
	3.4	Summary	. 36
4	Mu	lti-Relay Network Design Using PN-SNR Under	
	Ind	ividual Relay Power Constraints	38
	4.1	Basic PN-SNR Maximization	. 38
		4.1.1 Problem Formulation	. 39
		4.1.2 Optimal Solution	. 39
		4.1.3 Suboptimal Solution	. 41
		4.1.4 Simulation	. 42
	4.2	QoS-Constrained PN-SNR Maximization	. 45
		4.2.1 Problem Formulation	. 45
		4.2.2 Suboptimal Solution	. 46
		4.2.3 Simulation	. 48
	4.3	Summary	. 51
5	Cor	nclusion and Future Work	53
	5.1	Thesis Summary	. 53
	5.2	Future Work	. 54
		5.2.1 Preliminary Results on Relay Selection Design Using	r D
		PN-SNR	. 55
Bi	ibliog	graphy	59
\mathbf{A}	ppen	ndix A Proof of Theorem 1	65
\mathbf{A}_{j}	ppen	ndix B Proof of Lemma 1	68

List of Figures

2.1	Single-relay network.	15
2.2	Average PN-SNR versus P_0 for a single-relay network	23
2.3	Average received SNR versus ${\cal P}_0$ for a single-relay network	23
2.4	Outage probability versus P_0 for a single-relay network	24
3.1	Multi-relay network.	27
3.2	Average PN-SNR versus P_0 for a two-relay network with sum	
	relay power constraint	34
3.3	Average SNR versus P_0 for a two-relay network with sum relay	
	power constraint.	34
3.4	Outage probability versus P_0 for a two-relay network with sum	
	relay power constraint	35
4.1	Average PN-SNR versus ${\cal P}_0$ for a two-relay network with sepa-	
	rate relay power constraints	42
4.2	Average SNR versus P_0 for a two-relay network with separate	
	relay power constraints.	43
4.3	Outage probability versus P_0 for a two-relay network with sep-	
	arate relay power constraints	43
4.4	Average PN-SNR versus number of relays for networks with	
	separate relay power constraints.	44
4.5	Average PN-SNR versus P_0 for a two-relay network	49
4.6	Probability of no transmission versus P_0 for a two-relay network.	49

4.7	Average throughput versus P_0 for a two-relay network	50
5.1	Average PN-SNR versus P_0 for relay selection	56
5.2	Average received SNR versus P_0 for relay selection	57
5.3	Outage probability versus P_0 for relay selection	57

Chapter 1 Introduction

Wireless communication has experienced remarkable development in the past decades. With the deployment of commercial wireless systems and the booming of wireless users, wireless communication networks are faced with higher demands for throughput and reliability.

Compared with wired communication, wireless communication is more challenging in the sense that the propagation environment of radio signals is much more complicated [1]. Radio signals usually experience three mechanisms: reflection, diffraction, and scattering. As a result of these three mechanisms, radio propagation in wireless environment can be severely influenced by three phenomenons: path loss, shadowing, and multipath fading. The first two phenomenons are known as large scale fading while the third one is usually called small scale fading. Specifically, path loss is the attenuation of an electromagnetic wave as it propagates through space. Shadowing is introduced due to the presence of obstacles such as buildings, hills and valleys. Shadowing may result in temporary failure of communication due to the severe drop in the channel signal-to-noise ratio (SNR). Multipath fading is caused when plane waves arrive from different directions with random amplitudes and phases. It will result in rapid variations in the envelope of the received signal and will also introduce time dispersion. In the presence of these phenomenons, the throughput and reliability for wireless communication networks are limited.

1.1 Multipath Fading Channel Model

In mobile communication, large scale fading is relevant to cell site planning while small scale fading is relevant to the design of reliable and efficient communication system. We focus on multipath fading channel in this thesis. A continuous-time multipath channel under additive white Gaussian noise (AWGN) can be typically modeled as a linear time-variant system [2–4]. The equivalent baseband model can be written as

$$y(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{L} a_i(t)s(t - \tau_i(t)) + n(t),$$

where $a_i(t)$ represents the time-variant attenuation factor for the *i*th path and $\tau_i(t)$ is the corresponding time delay. In the equivalent baseband model, $a_i(t)$ is a complex factor that can be expressed as $a_i(t) = |a_i(t)|e^{-j2\pi f_c\tau_i(t)}$ with the carrier frequency f_c . n(t) is the additive Gaussian noise, which is a complex Gaussian random process. We can see that the received signal is consist of L multipath components of the transmitted signal s(t), where the *i*th is attenuated by $a_i(t)$ and delayed by $\tau_i(t)$.

Usually, $a_i(t)$ and $\tau_i(t)$ are time-variant due to the movement between the transmitter and the receiver. On special occasions when the transmitter, the receiver and the channel are stationary, the attenuation factors and delays do not depend on time t. Thus, the channel model can be reduced to a time-invariant system as

$$y(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{L} a_i s(t - \tau_i) + n(t).$$
(1.1)

The multipath propagation will stretche the signal in time domain and it may introduce intersymbol interference (ISI). We define the multipath delay spread T_d as the difference in propagation time between the longest and the shortest path, counting only the path with significant energy [4], i.e.,

$$T_d = \max_{i,j} (\tau_i - \tau_j).$$

Then, we can introduce the concept of channel coherent bandwidth B_c and roughly establish a relationship between B_c and T_d as

$$B_c \approx \frac{1}{T_d}.$$

The equation points out that the coherence bandwidth is reciprocal to the delay spread. In frequency domain, coherent bandwidth represents the frequency interval over which different frequency components of a signal are likely to experience correlated fading. In other word, when the bandwidth of the input signal is considerably less than B_c , all frequency components of the signal will experience the same magnitude of fading and the channel is said to be flat fading channel. In time domain, the delay spread T_d is considerably less than the symbol interval T_s when the channel is flat fading. Thus, flat fading channel will introduce very little ISI.

The discrete-time baseband model for flat fading channel can be obtained from (1.1) by sampling as

$$y(k) = \sum_{i=1}^{L} a_i s(k) + n(k) = h s(k) + n(k), \qquad (1.2)$$

where $h = \sum_{i=1}^{L} a_i$ can be viewed as the channel coefficient and the sampled noise can be proved to be complex Gaussian random variable [4]. Statistically, we assume that the attenuation factors are independently distributed random variables. When the number of multipath L is sufficient large, h is the sum of many independent random variables, and by the Central Limit Theorem, it can be reasonably modeled as circular symmetric complex Gaussian random variable.

In this thesis, we focus on such flat fading channels. In the absence of line of sight, h is complex Gaussian random variable with zero-mean. We further assume that h has unit-variance, i.e., $h \sim C\mathcal{N}(0, 1)$. It can be shown that the magnitude of h is Rayleigh distributed and the phase is uniform distributed over $[0, 2\pi]$. The transceiver equation of such Rayleigh fading channels can be expressed as

$$y = hs + n, \tag{1.3}$$

where s and y are the transmitted signal and the received signal, respectively. h is the channel coefficient whose amplitude has the following probability density function (pdf)

$$f(x) = 2xe^{-x^2}, \quad x \ge 0.$$
 (1.4)

and the noise n is complex Gaussian noise with zero-mean and unit-variance.

1.2 Diversity Techniques and MIMO System

Several techniques have been proposed to combat multipath fading. Among these, diversity techniques play an important role [1,4,5]. It can improve the quality of communication by using several communication channels with different characteristics. Different paths may experience different levels of fading. Thus, we are able to acquire independently faded replicas of transmitted data at the receiver by sending the signals with the same information through different paths. Due to the independence of these replicas, the probability that all replicas have poor quality is low and we can achieve more reliable detection by properly combining these replicas at the receiver. Common combining schemes include equal gain combining, maximum ratio combining, selection combining, and switched combining [6,7]. In the presence of channel information, maximum ratio combining weights and rotates the replicas according to the phase and strength of the channels, yielding a coherent summation of the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) from each replica at the receiver. It maximizes the SNR at the receiver and is proved to be the optimal combining scheme in independent AWGN channels. According to the domain where diversity is introduced, diversity techniques are classified into time, frequency and space diversity. Most of the wireless communication systems involve multiple diversity techniques.

Time diversity is achieved by sending the signals carrying the same information in different time intervals spaced more than the coherence time of the channel. Error control coding and interleaving are usually used in time diversity techniques, which may result in decoding delays and make it intolerable for delay sensitive applications.

Frequency diversity is achieved by sending the signals carrying the same information in different frequency bands separated by the coherence bandwidth of the channel. The major disadvantage of frequency diversity lies on the inefficient use of frequency resources.

Unlike time diversity schemes and frequency diversity schemes, spatial diversity can be achieved with no extra cost on time and frequency resources. Thus, it attracts significant attentions in recent years. It relies on the fact that signals will experience independent fading in geographically separated paths. Spatial diversity schemes can thus be implemented by employing multiple antennas at the transmitter and the receiver. This multiple-input-multipleoutput (MIMO) system, or multiple-antenna system, has evolved into the most vibrant research areas in the past two decades |8-13|. It is shown that MIMO techniques can be used to combat fading and improve the throughput and reliability of the network. Beamforming and space-time coding are among the most successful techniques in multiple-antenna system [14-16]. Beamforming is implemented by controlling the phase and amplitude of the signal sent by each transmit antenna in a way that signals at particular angles experience constructive interference while others experience destructive interference. At the receiver, the signals are recombined so that the expected pattern is preferentially observed. Space-time coding is based on introducing joint correlation in transmitted signals in both the space and time domains. Through this approach, simultaneous diversity and coding gains can be obtained.

Due to these appealing characteristics, MIMO techniques soon become key techniques in modern wireless communication and has been commercialized as wireless communication standards. For example, MIMO is employed in wireless communication standards such as 3rd Generation Partnership Project (3GPP), High-Speed Packet Access plus (HSPA+), IEEE 802.11 (Wi-Fi) and Long Term Evolution (LTE).

Even though multiple-antenna system has been prosperously developed, in some situations, it may not be practical to implement multiple antennas. As we mentioned before, it is desirable that the multiple faded replicas experience independent fading in order to achieve spatial diversity. However, it is shown that sufficient spatial independence can be obtained by spacing the antenna elements at least a half wavelength apart. For instance, we consider a wireless communication system with its carrier frequency 900 MHz. A roughly 16 cm separation between antennas is required to achieve the independence of fading. This separation between antennas is not possible for some users, especially for small size wireless mobile devices.

1.3 Cooperative Communication and Relay Networks

To overcome this disadvantage of multiple-antenna system, the concept of cooperative communication and relay network has been proposed [17–20]. Note that wireless channel is broadcast in nature, which indicates that users within a region are able to receive the information from the source user and can help relay the information if needed. The basic idea of cooperative communication is that users in a wireless network can help each other cooperatively to send signals to the destination, i.e., users in cooperative communication are responsible for transmitting not only their own information but also the information from some other users. Cooperative network can be thought of as a generalized MIMO system in the sense that it can generate independent MIMO-like channel links between source and destination and thus achieves spatial diversity. Relay network refers to a class of network topologies where the source and destination are interconnected by relay nodes. It is an implementation of cooperative communication network where users that help in transmission can be viewed as relays and they serve the source and the destination.

1.3.1 Brief History of Cooperative Communication

The basic analysis of relay channel in communication can be traced back to [21, 22] in which a three-node network consisting of a source, a destination and a relay was investigated. Later, the bounds on capacity of the three-node relay network discovered by van der Meulen was significantly improved in [23]. In [24,25], the authors generalized the capacity derivations with multiple relay network and investigated deterministic relay network with no interference. These works are viewed as the most prominent information results on relay network to date. However, the interest in cooperative communication and relay network once diminished after these works due to the difficulty in finding new

theoretical results and the technology challenges.

Until the end of 20th century, the remarkable developments in the area of wireless communication techniques, such as the discovery of multi-antenna systems, the advancement in understanding of fading channels and the research on channel codings, have set another wave of research on cooperative communication and relay network. Some of the contributive works that help to draw attention to cooperative communication in recent years include [26–30]. In [26, 27], the authors considered user-cooperation as a form of diversity in a mobile uplink channel, then proposed the implementation and analyzed the performance. The work points out that cooperation can not only extend the communication distance but also achieve spatial diversity. In [28–30], the authors studied the network performance under different transmission protocols in fading channels. In parallel with these works were numerous literature on extension of the basic cooperative relay network model [31–33]. Relay network with more than one relay and no direct source to destination link was considered in [31, 32]. While the author in [33] discovered the coding design and the power control strategies in relay networks. Later on, some researchers combined cooperative communication with multi-antenna system and proposed to use space-time coding in relay network [30, 34, 35].

With remarkable advances in wireless communications over the last two decades, the promise of cooperative communication and relay network is very real. Numerous studies are currently geared toward developing practical cooperative communication network. In recent years, cooperative communication is being applied to many aspects such as sensor network, cellular network, and wireless local area network (WLAN).

1.3.2 Review on Related Works

Literature on relay network designs can be categorized in different manners according to the network topologies, the transmission protocols or the assumptions on the networks.

There are many different network topologies and system models for relay network. The basic one is the three-node relay network with one transmitter, one receiver, and one relay. In many applications, however, this basic threenode relay network is far from enough in achieving satisfactory performance. Thus, the general multi-relay network model is studied in a large amount of literature [31,32,36–39]. Moreover, the relays are likely to serve more than one pair of users in practice. In these system models, the inter-user interference and the user fairness are of great concern. Many researchers try to overcome the difficulties in multi-user relay network [40–42]. The authors of [39,43–45] also discovered the two-way network topology and study the transmission schemes that are bandwidth efficient in bidirectional communications.

Even if the network topology is determined, the relay network can be different when different transmission schemes are used. For example, the relays process the received signals in different manners according to the transmission protocols. Common protocols are amplify-and-forward (AF) protocol [29], decode-and-forward (DF) protocol [46] and compress-and-forward (CF) protocol [47]. In AF protocol, the relays adjust the amplitude and phase of the received source transmission signals before forwarding them to the destination. In DF protocol, the relays forward the decoded source transmission signals after possibly compressing or adding redundancy. In CF protocol, the relays may not be able to decode the source transmission signals, but they quantize the signals and provide independent observations of the source transmission signals at the destination. In multi-relay network, whether orthogonal channels are used among relays also matters in network design. In some works, relays are using orthogonal channels [38,48]. Channel orthogonality can be in time domain or in frequency domain, where there is no interference between relays. Even though the orthogonality among relay channels largely simplifies the analysis, it is less bandwidth efficient compared with the design where all relays share the band [36, 37].

Finally, literature on relay network assume different knowledge of channel information. In the absence of channel information, space-time coding is usually used for diversity [34]. In the presence of perfect or partial channel information, performance can be further improved through beamforming or selection since it takes advantage of the channel information on relays to obtain higher received SNR [36, 37, 49, 50].

In many applications of cooperative relay network, there are constraints on the power consumed on users due to the limited power supply or the inter-user interference. Thus, power control is of great importance in cooperative relay network design to improve the network performance and there are numerous results on this topic [38, 51-55]. The aim of these works is to optimize the network performance by adaptive relay power allocation under different constraints. Commonly used performance measure includes received SNR, capacity or throughput, and outage probability or error rate. For example, [36, 37] involved performance maximization in single user and multirelay networks where the received SNR of the network was optimized under sum relay power constraint and separate relay power constraint, respectively. In [50, 54] and [38], the same model was considered while the goal was to maximize the capacity of the network. The authors of [39, 43, 45] focused on two-way single user networks in which either the minimum received SNR or the sum rate (throughput) was optimized. Throughput as a measure was also considered in [42] where the relays serve more than one pair of users and the minimum throughput among all users was maximized. In [55], the outage probability was viewed as the objective function to be minimized.

1.4 Green Communication

1.4.1 Motivation and Background

As the wireless traffic rapidly multiplies, the increase in energy consumption is dramatic, which leads to the increase of greenhouse gas emission that causes severe environmental depredation.

According to the survey from [56,57], wireless communications technology usage has grown at a staggering rate worldwide with an estimated 6 billion subscriptions in 2010. Every year, 120,000 new base stations are deployed serving 400 million new mobile users around the world. It indicates that the mobile subscription in developed regions increases by about 200%, whereas that in developing regions increases by about 1300% within the past decade. Mobile communications growth may have an alarming effect on carbon usage and energy costs due to the inefficient use of energy sources. As a result, the cellular networks have become the largest factor contributing to the mobile industry's environmental impact with the emissions estimated at between 0.5%and 1% of the entire world's carbon footprint. The growth trend of carbon footprint will remain within future years.

Thus, the reduction of greenhouse gas emission and the efficient use of power is becoming a practical problem. And green communication designs have attracted significant attention in recent years [58–60]. Green communications is defined as the striving to reduce energy costs while still maintaining quality of service (QoS) in terms of coverage needs, capacity and user needs.

In traditional network designs, efficiency measure includes spectral efficiency and energy efficiency. Spectral efficiency is defined as the achievable transmission bit-rate and its maximization guarantees the highest amount of information flow for fixed transmit power [54]. Energy efficiency, defined as the number of transmission bits per unit energy or power, was first proposed and analyzed in [61]. The energy efficiency was used in MIMO beamforming design in recent works [62, 63]. The author in [64] derived the bound on energy efficiency in relay network. In [65–68], energy efficiency was used in relay network designs.

1.4.2 Power-Normalized SNR

Inspired by the advantages of cooperative relay networks and the call of green communications, we are going to investigate power-efficient power control strategies in relay network design. In this thesis, we propose to used a new efficiency measure in network design. We first review the limitations on previous measures.

We can see that spectral efficiency is related to the capacity and the received SNR, but the maximization over spectral efficiency does not consider how efficient the transmit power is used. Energy efficiency takes into account how efficient the power is used and is a natural measure. But for most communication systems, energy efficiency is maximized when the transmit power approaches 0, i.e., when the system works in low SNR regimes. To see this, we consider the simple point-to-point single-antenna system with transmit power P, unit-variance noise, and channel gain λ . The energy efficiency of the system is $[\log(1 + \lambda P)]/P$, which takes its maximum λ when $P \rightarrow 0$. Hence, the energy-efficiency-optimal scheme will trap the system in the low SNR regime, where the actual bit-rate and reliability can be low and it is not in accordance with the concept of green communication.

The aforementioned limitations of spectral efficiency and energy efficiency measures have inspired us to study a new efficiency metric, namely SNR-perunit-power or power-normalized SNR (PN-SNR), to design network beamforming algorithms and to evaluate the network efficiency. For a single-user network, the PN-SNR is defined as

$$\eta \triangleq \frac{\mathrm{SNR}}{P_{\mathrm{total}}} \tag{1.5}$$

where SNR is the end-to-end received SNR calculated at the destination and P_{total} is the total power used for signal transmission in the network. The parameter η can be viewed as the power efficiency of the network. Without loss of generality, we have assumed that the equivalent channel noise between the transmitter and the receiver has unit-variance. Thus, P_{total} can also be seen as the transmit SNR. In this sense, η represents the received SNR the system provides per unit transmit SNR.

The PN-SNR was first used as an efficiency measure in [53], where it was called power efficiency. It was later used in [39, 69], and [70], where the term PN-SNR was introduced. While the PN-SNR was employed for numerical performance evaluation in [39, 53, 69], its properties and optimal designs using this measure were not investigated. For asynchronous two-way multi-relay network, [70] investigated the joint subcarrier transceiver power loading and relay beamforming optimization that maximizes the minimum SNR of the two users across all subcarriers, where, on each subcarrier, the subproblem of the SNR-maximization for given subcarrier power vectors was proved to result in PN-SNR optimization. But this work focused on SNR optimization and PN-SNR was not considered as an energy efficiency measure.

1.5 Contributions and Thesis Organization

In this thesis, we discover the potential of the PN-SNR as an efficiency measure in network design. Our goal is to design the beamforming scheme that maximize the PN-SNR in relay network. We formulate and solve the PN-SNR maximization problem for several relay network scenarios and compare the performance of the proposed design with existing schemes. We find that PN-SNR maximizing designs are more power efficient with moderate degradation in other performance compared with existing schemes, which means PN-SNR can be used as efficiency measure in green communication designs.

In Chapter 2, design using PN-SNR in single-relay network is considered. We formulate the PN-SNR maximization problem and find the optimal relay power that maximizes the PN-SNR for arbitrarily given transmitter power in close-form. We also study the average received SNR, the outage probability, and the average relay power offered by the proposed design; and compare them with those of the SNR-maximizing scheme and the fixed relay power scheme. Our results indicate that the proposed PN-SNR-maximizing scheme is more power efficient in single-relay network compared with the other two schemes. Meanwhile, with the same power resource, the proposed scheme has comparable performance in the average SNR and is better in outage probability compared with fixed relay power scheme. Also, the proposed scheme has considerably higher PN-SNR with moderate degradation in outage probability compared with the SNR-maximizing scheme.

In Chapter 3, design using PN-SNR in multi-relay network with a sum power constraint on the relays is investigated. We formulate the PN-SNR maximization problem and simplify it into a one-dimensional problem in finding the optimal sum relay power. Then, we prove that the simplified problem has a unique maximum, thus the globally optimal solution can be found with gradient-ascent algorithm. We simulate the performance of the proposed scheme and compare it with the SNR-maximizing scheme and the fixed relay power scheme. Similar results with single-relay network are observed in multi-relay network with a sum relay power constraint.

In Chapter 4, design using PN-SNR in multi-relay network with individual constraint on each relay is investigated. We propose a numerical algorithm for the global optimal solution and a low complexity suboptimal numerical solution. Performance of the proposed designs is simulated and compared with the SNR-maximizing scheme and the all maximum scheme. We observe through simulation that the proposed PN-SNR maximization scheme achieves the highest PN-SNR among the three schemes and the average PN-SNR increases with the number of relays. The proposed scheme is also comparable in average received SNR and outage probability with the SNR maximization scheme. In this chapter, we also consider the problem with one more constraint on the received SNR to maintain the quality of service (QoS) and propose a low complexity algorithm for a suboptimal solution. The average PN-SNR and average throughput of the proposed design are simulated and compared with existing designs. We observe that the proposed design is more power efficient than existing ones with comparable performance in the average throughput. When the transmitter power is small, with higher QoS constraint, the probability of no transmission gets higher; the average throughput decreases, but the the PN-SNR of the network increases.

In Chapter 5, we conclude the thesis and outline possible extensions for this thesis in future works. We also formulate the PN-SNR maximization problem in multi-relay network with relay selection and present the preliminary simulation results of such design. The simulation results imply that PN-SNR is also potential in relay selection design, which can be subsequent works of this thesis. The involved proof is provided in the appendix.

1.6 Notation

For a matrix \mathbf{A} , \mathbf{A}^T denotes the transpose of \mathbf{A} . For a complex scalar α , $|\alpha|$ and $\angle \alpha$ denote the amplitude and phase of α , respectively. For a vector \mathbf{a} , $||\mathbf{a}||$ denotes its Euclidean norm. For two vectors \mathbf{a} and \mathbf{b} of the same dimension, $\mathbf{a} \circ \mathbf{b}$ is the Schur-Hadamard product of the two vectors. In this thesis, $\operatorname{erf}(\cdot)$ is the error function, $\tan^{-1}(\cdot)$ is the inverse tangent function, and $K_1(\cdot)$ is the first order modified Bessel function of second kind. $\ln(\cdot)$ and $\log(\cdot)$ denote the natural logarithm function and common logarithm function, respectively. The term "subject to" in problem formulations is abbreviated to "s. t." in this thesis.

Chapter 2

Single-Relay Network Design Using PN-SNR

In this chapter, we investigate the power control design using PN-SNR in single-relay network. In Section 2.1, the single-relay system model is introduced. In Section 2.2, we formulate the PN-SNR maximization problem and provide a close-form solution. The performance of the proposed scheme is evaluated in Section 2.3. In Section 2.4, the performance of the proposed scheme is analytically compared with existing schemes. Section 2.5 presents the simulation results. Section 2.6 summarizes the contributions and observations of the chapter.

2.1 System Model



Fig. 2.1: Single-relay network.

In this chapter, we consider the basic three-node relay network with one transmitter, one receiver and one relay, as depicted in Fig. 2.1. The relay has only one single antenna which can be used for both transmission and reception. We denote the channel from the transmitter to the relay as f and the channel from the relay to the receiver as g. There is no direct link between

the transmitter and the receiver. We assume that f and g are AWGN Rayleigh flat fading channels as depicted in Chapter 1, i.e., f and g are i.i.d. complex Gaussian with zero-mean and unit-variance. We further assume that the relay and the receiver have perfect knowledge of the channel f and g. We denote the power constraint on the relay as $P_{R,\lim}$, and denote the actual transmit power of the relay as P. Thus, $P \leq P_{R,\lim}$.

We consider a two-step AF protocol for relay transmission. During the first step, the transmitter sends $\sqrt{P_0}s$, where the information symbol s is randomly selected from the codebook S. We assume that s in the codebook are normalized as $\mathbb{E}\{|s|^2\} = 1$. Thus, the power used at the transmitter is P_0 . The signal received at the relay can be represented as

$$x = \sqrt{P_0} f s + n_1, \tag{2.1}$$

where n_1 is the noise in the first step and is a Gaussian random variable with zero-mean and unit-variance.

During the second step, the relay adjusts the magnitude and phase of the received signal in (2.1) and retransmits the processed signal with power P. The processed signal can be expressed as

$$t = \sqrt{\frac{P}{1 + |f|^2 P_0}} x e^{j\theta},$$
(2.2)

and the received signal at the receiver is

$$y = tg + n_2, \tag{2.3}$$

where n_2 is the noise in the second step. We assume that n_2 is independent with n_1 and is a Gaussian random variable with zero-mean and unit-variance. With (2.1) and (2.2), the received signal in (2.3) can be further rewritten as

$$y = \sqrt{\frac{PP_0}{1 + |f|^2 P_0}} fg e^{j\theta} s + \sqrt{\frac{P}{1 + |f|^2 P_0}} ge^{j\theta} n_1 + n_2.$$
(2.4)

It can be seen that the first term in (2.4) corresponds to the information symbol and the last two terms are the noise. With the fact that $\mathbb{E}\{|s|^2\} = 1$ and n_1 and n_2 are independent Gaussian random variables with unit-variance, the end-to-end received SNR can be expressed as

$$SNR = \frac{\left|\sqrt{\frac{PP_0}{1+|f|^2 P_0}} fg e^{j\theta} s\right|^2}{\left|\sqrt{\frac{P}{1+|f|^2 P_0}} ge^{j\theta}\right|^2 + 1} = \frac{|fg|^2 PP_0}{1+|f|^2 P_0 + |g|^2 P} \approx \frac{|fg|^2 PP_0}{|f|^2 P_0 + |g|^2 P}.$$
 (2.5)

In the third step in (2.5), we have used an approximation which has been shown to be tight in the high SNR regime [71].

According to the definition in (1.5), the PN-SNR of the network is thus

$$\eta = \frac{|fg|^2 P P_0}{(1+|f|^2 P_0 + |g|^2 P)(P+P_0)} \approx \frac{|fg|^2 P P_0}{(|f|^2 P_0 + |g|^2 P)(P+P_0)}.$$
 (2.6)

2.2 Problem Formulation and Solution

Using (2.6), our PN-SNR maximization problem can be formulated as

$$\max_{0 \le P \le P_{R,\lim}} \frac{|fg|^2 P P_0}{(1+|f|^2 P_0+|g|^2 P)(P+P_0)}.$$
(2.7)

We first consider the ideal case that the relay power is unlimited, i.e., $P_{R,\text{lim}} = \infty$, then consider the practical case of finite $P_{R,\text{lim}}$. Infinite power constraint is of course ideal, as any device has a finite power limit. We consider this ideal case to better understand the behavior of the PN-SNR efficiency measure. Studying this ideal case also helps us to find the solution to the finite power constraint case.

The PN-SNR maximization problem with unlimited relay power is given as

$$\max_{P \ge 0} \frac{|fg|^2 P P_0}{(1+|f|^2 P_0 + |g|^2 P)(P+P_0)}.$$
(2.8)

Differentiating the objective function in (2.8) with respect to P and equating it to zero, the optimal relay power, denoted as P^* , can be obtained as

$$P^* = \frac{\sqrt{P_0(1+|f|^2 P_0)}}{|g|}.$$
(2.9)

When the transmitter power is high $(P_0 \gg 1)$, this solution can be approximated as

$$P^* \approx P^*_{\text{approx}} = \frac{|f|}{|g|} P_0. \tag{2.10}$$

The same result can be obtained if the approximate SNR formula in (2.5) is used in the PN-SNR formula.

From (2.9) and (2.10), we can see that although the relay power constraint is assumed to be infinity, for the highest PN-SNR, the relay should only use a finite amount of power. This is different from the SNR-maximizing scheme, where the optimal solution is easily seen to be $P = P_{R,\lim} = \infty$. Also, we can see that the optimal relay power in (2.9) or (2.10) is channel dependent, meaning that for the highest PN-SNR, the relay should adjust its transmit power according to the channel qualities. When the ratio of the transmitterrelay channel quality (|f|) to the relay-receiver channel quality (|g|) is larger, the relay should use more power; and vice versa. This property complies with the relay noise suppression idea. When this ratio is high, the transmitter-relay channel has a better quality than the relay-receiver channel, the received signal at the relay contains a small noise component and it should use a relatively large amount of power to forward. On the other hand, when the ratio is low, the transmitter-relay channel has lower quality than the relay-receiver channel, the received signal at the relay is highly noisy and the relay should use low power to suppress relay noise amplification.

Now, we consider the practical case that $P_{R,\lim}$ is finite, i.e., $P_{R,\lim} < \infty$. It is straightforward to show that $\frac{d\eta}{dP} > 0$ when $P \leq \frac{|f|}{|g|}P_0$ and $\frac{d\eta}{dP} < 0$ when $P \geq \frac{|f|}{|g|}P_0$. Thus, the PN-SNR increases with P when $P \leq \frac{|f|}{|g|}P_0$ and decreases with P when $P \geq \frac{|f|}{|g|}P_0$. So for the finite power constraint case, the PN-SNR maximizing solution to (2.7) can be easily extended from (2.10) as

$$P_{\text{opt}} \approx \min\left(\frac{|f|}{|g|}P_0, P_{R,\lim}\right).$$
 (2.11)

In the following subsection, performance of the proposed power control in (2.11) is evaluated.

2.3 Performance Evaluation

In this section, we analyze the network performance under the proposed PN-SNR-maximizing solution to further understand the adopted PN-SNR measure. For the performance, we consider the average relay transmit power, the average PN-SNR, the average end-to-end received SNR, and the outage probability.

We summarize our performance analysis results in the following theorem.

Theorem 1 With the relay power design in (2.11), the average power consumed by the relay is

$$P_{\rm ave} = P_0 \tan^{-1} \left(\frac{P_{R,\rm lim}}{P_0} \right).$$
 (2.12)

Define $\xi \triangleq \frac{P_{R,\lim}}{P_0}$. When $P_0 \gg 1$ and using the SNR approximation in (2.5), the average PN-SNR of the network is given as

$$\eta_{\text{ave}} \approx \frac{3}{8}\pi - \frac{3}{4}\tan^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{\xi}\right) - \frac{4\xi^3 - 7\xi^2 - \xi}{4(\xi+1)(\xi-1)^2} + \frac{2\xi^2 \ln\left(\frac{\xi^2+1}{\xi(\xi+1)}\right)}{(\xi-1)^3(\xi+1)}, \quad (2.13)$$

and the corresponding average end-to-end received SNR is

$$SNR_{ave} \approx (2.14)$$

$$P_0 \left[\frac{\pi}{8} - \frac{1}{4} \tan^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{\xi} \right) - \frac{3\xi^3 + 5\xi}{4(\xi - 1)^2(\xi^2 + 1)} - \frac{1}{4} \ln \left(\frac{(\xi + 1)^2}{\xi^2 + 1} \right) + \frac{2\xi^2 \ln \left(\frac{\xi^2 + 1}{\xi(\xi + 1)} \right)}{(\xi - 1)^3} \right].$$

Also, with SNR threshold $\gamma_{\rm th}$, the outage probability, denoted as O, can be bounded as

$$\left(1+\frac{1}{\xi}\right)\frac{\gamma_{\rm th}}{P_0} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{P_0^2}\right) \lesssim O \lesssim \left(1+\frac{1}{\xi}\right)\frac{\gamma_{\rm th}}{P_0} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{P_0^{4/3}}\right).$$
(2.15)

Proof. See Appendix A.

First, from (2.12) in Theorem 1, we can see that under the PN-SNRmaximizing design, the average relay power is non-decreasing in P_0 . But it is always finite, regardless of the relay power constraint. From (2.13) and (2.14), we can also show that η_{ave} and $\frac{\text{SNR}_{\text{ave}}}{P_0}$ are continuous and non-decreasing in ξ (it can be shown that $\xi = 1$ is not a singular point). We can conclude from Theorem 1 that increasing the ratio of the maximum relay power and the transmitter power (ξ) improves the average PN-SNR, the average received SNR, and the outage probability. For a given P_0 , larger ξ means that more power is available at the relay, which results in better performance. However, the performance is bounded by the extreme case where ξ is infinity, i.e., the relay power constraint $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ is unlimited. The performance of the extreme case can be summarized in the following corollary.

Corollary 1 When $\xi = \infty$, or equivalently, $P_{R,\lim} = \infty$, with the relay power design in (2.11) and using the SNR approximation in (2.5), the average power consumed on the relay is

$$P_{\rm ave} = \frac{\pi}{2} P_0, \qquad (2.16)$$

the average PN-SNR of the network is

$$\eta_{\rm ave} \approx \frac{3}{8}\pi - 1, \qquad (2.17)$$

the corresponding average end-to-end received SNR is

$$\text{SNR}_{\text{ave}} \approx \frac{\pi}{8} P_0,$$
 (2.18)

and the outage probability with SNR threshold $\gamma_{\rm th}$ can be bounded as

$$\frac{\gamma_{\rm th}}{P_0} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{P_0^2}\right) \lesssim O \lesssim \frac{\gamma_{\rm th}}{P_0} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{P_0^{4/3}}\right). \tag{2.19}$$

Proof. This corollary can be easily obtained from Theorem 1 by setting $\xi = \infty$. It is also derived in our paper [72].

2.4 Comparison with Existing Schemes

In this section, we compare the performance of the proposed scheme with existing schemes. The first is the fixed relay power scheme, where the relay power P is fixed regardless of the channel quality. The network performance in fixed relay power scheme can be summarized as follows.

Lemma 1 When $P_0 \gg 1$, with the relay transmit power fixed as P for each transmission, the average PN-SNR of the network is

$$\eta_{\text{ave_fix}} \approx \frac{PP_0}{(P-P_0)^2} - \frac{2P^2P_0^2}{(P-P_0)^3(P+P_0)} \ln\left(\frac{P}{P_0}\right),$$
 (2.20)

the corresponding average end-to-end received SNR is

$$\text{SNR}_{\text{ave_fix}} \approx \frac{PP_0(P+P_0)}{(P-P_0)^2} - \frac{2P^2P_0^2}{(P-P_0)^3}\ln\left(\frac{P}{P_0}\right).$$
 (2.21)

If P has the same scaling as P_0 , i.e., $P = \zeta P_0$, the outage probability with SNR threshold γ_{th} is

$$O_{\text{fix}} \approx \left(1 + \frac{1}{\zeta}\right) \frac{\gamma_{\text{th}}}{P_0} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\ln P_0}{P_0^2}\right).$$
 (2.22)

Proof. See Appendix B. ■

For a given P_0 , by equaling the first order derivative of (2.20) to 0, we can observe that the channel-independent optimal relay power that maximizes the average PN-SNR is P_0 , i.e., the relay power should be the same as the transmitter power for the highest $\eta_{\text{ave_fix}}$.

In what follows, we compare the performance of the proposed PN-SNR maximizing scheme with that of the fixed relay power scheme. For fairness, we set the average relay power used in the two schemes to be the same, i.e., they have the same power resource. Thus, for the fixed relay power scheme, we have $P = P_{\text{ave}} = P_0 \tan^{-1} (P_{R,\text{lim}}/P_0)$. Recalling that $\xi = P_{R,\text{lim}}/P_0$, we simplify the average PN-SNR, the average SNR, and the outage probability in (2.20), (2.21), and (2.22), respectively, as

$$\eta_{\text{ave_fix}} \approx \frac{\tan^{-1}(\xi)}{[\tan^{-1}(\xi) - 1]^2} - \frac{2\tan^{-1}(\xi)^2 \ln[\tan^{-1}(\xi)]}{[\tan^{-1}(\xi) - 1]^3 [\tan^{-1}(\xi) + 1]}, \qquad (2.23)$$

$$\text{SNR}_{\text{ave_fix}} \approx \left[\frac{\tan^{-1}(\xi)[\tan^{-1}(\xi) + 1]}{[\tan^{-1}(\xi) - 1]^2} - \frac{2\tan^{-1}(\xi)^2\ln[\tan^{-1}(\xi)]}{(\tan^{-1}(\xi) - 1)^3} \right] P_0, \quad (2.24)$$

and

$$O_{\rm fix} \approx \left[1 + \frac{1}{\tan^{-1}(\xi)}\right] \frac{\gamma_{\rm th}}{P_0} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\ln P_0}{P_0^2}\right). \tag{2.25}$$

Comparing (2.13) with (2.23), we discover that the average PN-SNR in the proposed scheme is always higher than that of the fixed relay power scheme. For the extreme case of $P_{R,\text{lim}} = \infty$, our scheme is 11.3% better in the average PN-SNR. With respect to the outage probability, comparing (2.15) with (2.25), the proposed scheme has the following gain in dB:

$$G_{\text{outage}} \triangleq 10 \log \frac{O_{\text{fix}}}{O} = 10 \log \left[\frac{\xi \tan^{-1}(\xi) + \xi}{\xi \tan^{-1}(\xi) + \tan^{-1}(\xi)} \right].$$
(2.26)

Note that as $\xi \ge \tan^{-1}(\xi)$ for $\xi \ge 0$, the numerator in (2.26) is larger than the denominator, meaning that G_{outage} is always non-negative. Thus, our scheme

outperforms the fixed relay power scheme in outage probability. It can also be shown that $G_{\text{outage}} \leq 2.14 \text{ dB}$ with equality when $P_{R,\text{lim}} = \infty$.

We can conclude that our proposed scheme is more power efficient than the fixed relay power scheme. Furthermore, it also outperforms the fixed relay power scheme in outage probability with the same relay power consumption. These advantages are due to the PN-SNR measure used in our scheme, leading to a channel-dependent relay power control.

Another existing scheme is the SNR-maximizing scheme, where the relay uses its maximum power for the highest received SNR, i.e., $P = P_{R,\text{lim}}$. In fact, the SNR-maximizing scheme can be viewed as a fixed relay power scheme and its performance can be obtained from (2.20) to (2.22) by setting $P = P_{R,\text{lim}}$ and $\zeta = \xi$. Compared to our proposed method, the SNR-maximizing scheme is expected to have better average received SNR but significantly lower average PN-SNR. Its outage probability (given in (2.25) with $\zeta = \xi$) has the same dominant term as that of the proposed method, indicating that for high P_0 , the two schemes have the same outage probability. Thus, the proposed scheme achieves significantly better efficiency in terms of the PN-SNR with about the same outage probability.

2.5 Simulation

In this section, we present the simulated performance of our proposed PN-SNR-maximizing scheme. We also compare the proposed scheme with the fixed relay power scheme and the SNR-maximizing scheme. Channels are randomly generated as i.i.d. circularly symmetric complex Gaussian with zero-mean and unit-variance in our simulation. The main criterion we use to evaluate the network is the average PN-SNR. Meanwhile, we also simulate the average end-to-end received SNR and the outage probability as alternative criteria for the performance evaluation.

We simulate the average PN-SNR, end-to-end received SNR and outage probability with threshold $\gamma_{\rm th} = 0$ dB for the proposed PN-SNR-maximizing scheme (denoted as "Proposed"), the SNR-maximizing scheme (denoted as



Fig. 2.2: Average PN-SNR versus ${\cal P}_0$ for a single-relay network.



Fig. 2.3: Average received SNR versus P_0 for a single-relay network.



Fig. 2.4: Outage probability versus P_0 for a single-relay network.

"SNR-max") and the fixed relay power scheme (denoted as "Fixed power"). For the relay power constraint, three cases are considered: 1) $P_{R,\text{lim}} = \infty$, 2) $P_{R,\text{lim}} = 4P_0$, and 3) $P_{R,\text{lim}} = P_0$. For fair comparison, in the fixed relay power scheme, the relay power is set to be P_{ave} provided in (2.12). So the proposed and the fixed relay power schemes use the same amount of power resource. In the SNR-maximizing scheme, the relay always uses its maximum power $P_{R,\text{lim}}$, and thus, it consumes more relay power than the other two schemes. Also, the case $P_{R,\text{lim}} = \infty$ does not apply to the SNR-maximizing scheme since it is impractical for the relay to transmit with infinite power.

Fig. 2.2 shows the average PN-SNR versus P_0 for the three schemes. We can see that in the proposed PN-SNR-maximizing scheme, the PN-SNR is non-decreasing as $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ increases. In the SNR-maximizing scheme, however, PN-SNR decreases sharply as $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ increases. It can be shown that the PN-SNR decreases to 0 as $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ tends to infinity. In the fixed relay power scheme, the PN-SNR slowly decreases as $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ increases. Among the three schemes, our proposed scheme always achieves the highest PN-SNR. When $P_{R,\text{lim}} = P_0$, the proposed scheme is 5.4% better than the fixed relay power scheme and 4.2% better than the SNR-maximizing scheme at $P_0 = 30$ dBW. When $P_{R,\text{lim}} = 4P_0$, it is 9.2% better than the fixed relay power scheme and 53% better than the SNR-maximizing scheme at $P_0 = 30$ dBW. These observations comply with the theoretical analysis in previous sections.

Fig. 2.3 shows the average end-to-end received SNR versus P_0 for the three schemes. We can see that in the SNR-maximizing scheme, the average SNR increases rapidly as $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ increases, and grows out of bound when $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ approaches infinity. But in both the proposed scheme and the fixed relay power scheme, the average SNR increases but saturates quickly. This is because for these two schemes, only partial relay power is used. When $P_{R,\text{lim}} = P_0$ and $P_0 = 30$ dBW, the average SNR in the proposed scheme is 0.25 dB better than the fixed relay power scheme but 0.2 dB worse than the SNR-maximizing scheme. When $P_{R,\text{lim}} = 4P_0$ and $P_0 = 30$ dBW, the average SNR in the proposed scheme is 0.1 dB better than the fixed relay power scheme, while about 2 dB worse than the SNR-maximizing scheme. When $P_{R,\text{lim}} = \infty$ and $P_0 = 30$ dBW, the average SNR in the proposed scheme is inferior to the fixed relay power scheme by 0.2 dB. The simulation results comply with the analysis in previous sections and indicate that our proposed scheme has comparable performance in average SNR with the fixed relay power scheme but it is inferior to the SNR-maximizing scheme.

Fig. 2.4 shows the outage probability versus P_0 for the three schemes. We can see that as $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ increases, all three schemes have better performance in outage probability. When $P_{R,\text{lim}} = P_0$, our proposed scheme is 0.5 dB superior to the fixed relay power scheme but is 0.1 dB inferior to the SNR-maximizing scheme. When $P_{R,\text{lim}} = 4P_0$, our proposed scheme is 1.2 dB superior to the fixed relay power scheme but is inferior, by 0.25 dB, to the SNR-maximizing scheme. For the extreme case $P_{R,\text{lim}} = \infty$, our proposed scheme is superior by about 1.8 dB to the fixed relay power scheme. The two curves in our scheme and the SNR-maximizing scheme become closer to each other as P_0 increases. These observations are in accordance with the analysis in previous sections. We can conclude that the proposed PN-SNR-maximizing scheme outperforms the fixed relay power scheme in outage probability and is comparable to the SNR-maximizing scheme.

2.6 Summary

In this chapter, we formulated and solved the PN-SNR maximization problem in single-relay network with relay power constraint. Optimal relay power was provided in close-form and the network performance was compared analytically and numerically with the fixed relay power scheme and the SNR-maximizing scheme.

We can see from the derivations in Section 2.4 and the simulation results in Section 2.5 that the proposed PN-SNR-maximizing scheme is more efficient in single-relay network compared with the other two schemes. Meanwhile, with the same power resource, the proposed scheme has comparable performance in the average SNR and is better in outage probability compared with the fixed relay power scheme. Naturally, the SNR-maximizing scheme achieves higher SNR than the proposed scheme. But its advantage in outage probability is small and negligible in the high SNR regime. And it has significant lower PN-SNR than the proposed scheme, implying that the power is not efficiently used in this method.

The observations in this chapter reveal the potential of PN-SNR in relay network design and encourage us to discover the multi-relay network design using PN-SNR, which is the major problem in the next two chapters.

Chapter 3

Multi-Relay Network Design Using PN-SNR Under Sum Relay Power Constraint

In this chapter, we investigate the power control design using PN-SNR in multi-relay network with a sum power constraint on all relays. In Section 3.1, we introduce the system model of multi-relay network and derive the expression of PN-SNR in such networks. In Section 3.2, we formulate the PN-SNR maximization problem in multi-relay network with a sum power constraint on relays and propose a low complexity algorithm for the optimal solution. In Section 3.3, we simulate the performance of the proposed scheme and compare it with existing schemes. In Section 3.4, we conclude the results and observations from previous sections.

3.1 System Model



Fig. 3.1: Multi-relay network.
In this chapter, we consider a general distributed network with one transmitter, one receiver, and R relays, as depicted in Fig. 3.1. Each relay has only one single antenna which can be used for both transmission and reception. We denote the channel from the transmitter to the *i*th relay as f_i and the channel from the *i*th relay to the receiver as g_i . We assume that there is no direct link between the transmitter and the receiver. We assume that f_i and g_i are i.i.d. complex Gaussian random variable with zero-mean and unit-variance, so the channel magnitudes follow Rayleigh distribution. All channels are assumed to be flat-fading channels. We also assume that each relay knows its own channels, i.e., the *i*th relay knows f_i and g_i , and the receiver knows all channels. The required channel state information at the receiver can be obtained via channel estimation and feedback [49, 73–75]. The *i*th relay can obtain f_i by training and g_i by feedback. Let

$$\mathbf{f} \triangleq [f_1 \ f_2 \ \dots \ f_R]^T,$$

and

$$\mathbf{g} \triangleq [g_1 \ g_2 \ \dots \ g_R]^T,$$

which are the transmitter-relay and relay-receiver channel vectors. We define the effective end-to-end channel vector between the transmitter and receiver as

$$\mathbf{h} \triangleq \mathbf{f} \circ \mathbf{g} = [f_1 g_1 \ f_2 g_2 \ \dots \ f_R g_R]^T.$$

We herein consider a two-step AF protocol with relay beamforming, where the relays adjust the amplitudes and the phases of their received signals before forwarding them [37]. During the first step, the transmitter sends $\sqrt{P_0}s$, where the information symbol s is randomly selected from the codebook S. We assume that s in the codebook are normalized as $\mathbb{E}\{|s|^2\} = 1$. Thus, the average power used at the transmitter is P_0 . The signals received at the relays can be represented as

$$\mathbf{x} = \sqrt{P_0} \mathbf{f} s + \mathbf{z},\tag{3.1}$$

where \mathbf{x} is the $R \times 1$ complex vector of the signals received by relays and x_i corresponds to the received signal on the *i*th relay. \mathbf{z} is the $R \times 1$ complex

vector of the relay noises. We assume that all noises are i.i.d. complex Gaussian random variables with zero-mean and unit-variance.

In the second step, the *i*th relay multiplies its received signal by a complex weight w_i to adjust the phase and magnitude of the signal and transmits the adjusted signal. All relays share the same channel and are assumed to be perfectly synchronized. The $R \times 1$ complex vector **t** of the transmitted signals of all relays can then be expressed as

$$\mathbf{t} = \mathbf{w} \circ \mathbf{x},\tag{3.2}$$

where $\mathbf{w} \triangleq [w_1 \ w_2 \ \dots \ w_R]^T$ is referred to as the relay beamforming vector. Denoting the *i*th entry of \mathbf{t} as t_i , the power consumed on the *i*th relay, denoted as P_i , can be calculated, using (3.2), as

$$P_i = \mathbb{E}\{|t_i|^2\} = (1 + P_0|f_i|^2)|w_i|^2, \qquad (3.3)$$

The signal received at the receiver, denoted as y, can be written as

$$y = \mathbf{t}^T \mathbf{g} + n = (\mathbf{w} \circ \mathbf{x})^T \mathbf{g} + n$$

= $(\mathbf{f} \circ \mathbf{w})^T \mathbf{g} \sqrt{P_0} s + (\mathbf{w} \circ \mathbf{z})^T \mathbf{g} + n$
= $\sqrt{P_0} s \mathbf{w}^T \mathbf{h} + \mathbf{w}^T (\mathbf{g} \circ \mathbf{z}) + n$ (3.4)

where the noise n at the receiver is assumed to be independent of z_1, \ldots, z_R and is Gaussian distributed with zero-mean and unit-variance. Note that the first term in (3.4) corresponds to the information symbol and the last two terms are the noise. With the fact that $\mathbb{E}\{|s|^2\} = 1$ and all noises are i.i.d. Gaussian random variable with zero-mean and unit-variance, the end-to-end received SNR can be expressed as

$$SNR = \frac{\left|\sqrt{P_0}s\mathbf{w}^T\mathbf{h}\right|^2}{\left|\mathbf{w}^T(\mathbf{g}\circ\mathbf{z})\right|^2 + 1} = \frac{P_0\left|\mathbf{w}^T\mathbf{h}\right|^2}{1 + \|\mathbf{w}\circ\mathbf{g}\|^2}.$$
(3.5)

Recall the power consumed by the *i*th relay is given as in (3.3). The total transmit power consumed on all relays is

$$\sum_{i=1}^{R} (1 + P_0 |f_i|^2) |w_i|^2 = P_0 ||\mathbf{w} \circ \mathbf{a}||^2,$$

where

$$\mathbf{a} \triangleq \left[\sqrt{\frac{1}{P_0} + |f_1|^2} \quad \cdots \quad \sqrt{\frac{1}{P_0} + |f_R|^2} \right].$$

The total transmit power consumed in the whole network is thus

$$P_T = P_0 + P_0 \|\mathbf{w} \circ \mathbf{a}\|^2.$$

According to our definition in (1.5), the PN-SNR of the relay network is

$$\eta \triangleq \frac{\text{SNR}}{P_T} = \frac{P_0 |\mathbf{w}^T \mathbf{h}|^2}{(1 + \|\mathbf{w} \circ \mathbf{g}\|^2)(P_0 + P_0\|\mathbf{w} \circ \mathbf{a}\|^2)}$$
$$= \frac{|\mathbf{w}^T \mathbf{h}|^2}{(1 + \|\mathbf{w} \circ \mathbf{g}\|^2)(1 + \|\mathbf{w} \circ \mathbf{a}\|^2)}.$$
(3.6)

Denote the amplitude and the phase of w_i as α_i and θ_i , respectively, i.e., $w_i = \alpha_i e^{j\theta_i}$. Let

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha} \triangleq [\alpha_1 \cdots \alpha_R]^T,$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\theta} \triangleq [\theta_1 \cdots \theta_R]^T.$$

Note that both $\|\mathbf{w} \circ \mathbf{g}\|^2$ and $\|\mathbf{w} \circ \mathbf{a}\|^2$ are independent of the phase vector $\boldsymbol{\theta}$. Thus, the denominator of η given in (3.6) is independent of $\boldsymbol{\theta}$. It is obvious that the numerator is maximized when $\theta_i = -\angle h_i$ for any given $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$, where $h_i = f_i g_i$ is the *i*th entry of \mathbf{h} . That is, the *i*th relay should adjust to cancel the phase of its channels during the second step.

With the optimal phase adjustment at the relays, the end-to-end received SNR in (3.5) reduces to

$$SNR = \frac{P_0(\boldsymbol{\alpha}^T \mathbf{b})^2}{1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{d}\|^2},$$
(3.7)

and the PN-SNR in (3.6) reduces to

$$\eta = \frac{(\boldsymbol{\alpha}^T \mathbf{b})^2}{(1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{d}\|^2)(1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{a}\|^2)},$$
(3.8)

where

$$\mathbf{b} \triangleq [|f_1g_1| \cdots |f_Rg_R|],$$
$$\mathbf{d} \triangleq [|g_1|, \cdots, |g_R|],$$

and

$$\mathbf{a} = \left[\sqrt{\frac{1}{P_0} + |f_1|^2} \quad \cdots \quad \sqrt{\frac{1}{P_0} + |f_R|^2}\right].$$

3.2 Problem Formulation and Solution

In this section, we formulate the PN-SNR maximization problem in multirelay network with a sum power constraint on relays, where the total power consumed by all relays, denoted as P, is no larger than $P_{R,\text{lim}}$, i.e., $P = \sum_{i=1}^{R} P_i \leq P_{R,\text{lim}}$. This sum-power constraint model has been widely used in the literature, e.g., [36, 45, 50].

From (3.3) and (3.8), the PN-SNR maximization problem can be expressed as

$$\max_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \succeq 0} \quad \frac{(\boldsymbol{\alpha}^T \mathbf{b})^2}{(1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{d}\|^2)(1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{a}\|^2)}$$

s. t.
$$\sum_{i=1}^R (1 + P_0 |f_i|^2) |\alpha_i|^2 \le P_{R,\lim}.$$
 (3.9)

The problem in (3.9) is a non-convex optimization problem since the objective function is non-convex. In this section, we first simplify the problem into a onedimensional problem using the results in [36], then prove that the maximum of the simplified problem is unique. Thus, we propose to use a gradient-ascent algorithm to find the optimal solution.

To simplify the problem, we can rewrite (3.9) as follow:

$$\max_{P} \quad \frac{1}{P_{0} + P} \left(\max_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \succeq 0} \frac{P_{0}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{T} \mathbf{b})^{2}}{1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{d}\|^{2}} \right)$$

s. t.
$$0 \le P \le P_{R, \lim}, P = P_{0} \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{a}\|^{2}, \qquad (3.10)$$

With any fixed sum relay power P, the inner problem in (3.10) is an SNR optimization problem with a sum relay power constraint. This problem is solved in [36] where the optimal power coefficient of the *i*th relay is

$$\alpha_i = \frac{|f_i g_i|}{|f_i|^2 P_0 + |g_i|^2 P + 1} \sqrt{\frac{P}{\sum_{i=1}^R \frac{|f_i|^2 |g_i|^2 (|f_i|^2 P_0 + 1)}{(|f_i|^2 P_0 + |g_i|^2 P + 1)^2}}},$$
(3.11)

and the corresponding maximum end-to-end received SNR is

$$SNR_{\max}(P) = \max_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \succeq 0} \frac{P_0(\boldsymbol{\alpha}^T \mathbf{b})^2}{1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{d}\|^2} = \sum_{i=1}^R \frac{|f_i|^2 |g_i|^2 P_0 P}{|f_i|^2 P_0 + |g_i|^2 P + 1}.$$
 (3.12)

Substituting (3.12) into (3.10), our PN-SNR maximization problem is reduced to the following one-dimensional problem of finding the optimal sum power P consumed on all relays:

$$\max_{0 \le P \le P_{R,\lim}} \sum_{i=1}^{R} \frac{|f_i|^2 |g_i|^2 P_0 P}{(|f_i|^2 P_0 + |g_i|^2 P + 1)(P + P_0)}.$$
(3.13)

The second order derivative of the objective function can be calculated as

$$\frac{d^2\eta}{dP^2} = (3.14)$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{R} \frac{2|f_i|^2|g_i|^2 P_0(|g_i|^4 P^3 - |g_i|^2 P_0(|f_i|^2 P_0^2 + 1)(3P + P_0) - P_0(|f_i|^2 P_0^2 + 1)^2)}{(P + P_0)^3(|f_i|^2 P_0 + |g_i|^2 P + 1)^3}.$$

It can be seen from (3.14) that $\frac{d^2\eta}{dP^2}$ is not always negative, so the objective function in (3.13) is not concave in general.

To solve (3.13), we first consider the case when the sum power constraint on relays is unlimited, i.e., $0 \le P < \infty$. The following lemma is proved.

Lemma 2 The objective function in (3.13) is a semi-strictly quasi-concave function and has only one maximum for $0 \le P < \infty$.

Proof. The objective function in (3.13) can be expressed as $\frac{\text{SNR}_{\max}(P)}{P+P_0}$ where the nominator is provided in (3.12). It is easy to verify that

$$\frac{d^2 \text{SNR}_{\text{max}}}{dP^2} = -\sum_{i=1}^{R} \frac{2|f_i|^2 |g_i|^4 P_0(|f_i|^2 P_0 + 1)}{(|f_i|^2 P_0 + |g_i|^2 P + 1)^3} < 0.$$

In other words, the numerator is a strict concave function of P. It is obvious that $P + P_0$ is a convex function and both SNR_{max} and $P + P_0$ are positive for $P \ge 0$. According to Theorem 2.3.8 in [76], the objective function is a semi-strictly quasi-concave function. Moreover, it is shown in [77] that a semi-strictly quasi-concave function has a unique maximum if the numerator is strictly concave. Thus, the maximum of (3.13) is unique for $P \ge 0$.

Denote the optimal sum power as P^* . To find P^* , we propose to use a gradient-ascent algorithm. It has been shown in [78] that by proper step size selection, gradient-ascent algorithm will converge to a stationary point that satisfies $\frac{d\eta}{dP} = 0$. According to Lemma 2, this is also the only stationary

point for $P \ge 0$. Thus, gradient-ascent algorithm will converge to the optimal solution. The complexity of such algorithm is low. Newton's algorithm, for example, has quadratic convergence. In each iteration, Newton's algorithm only needs to calculate the second order derivative in (3.14).

We now consider the case when $P_{R,\lim}$ is finite. Since the objective function in (3.13) has a unique maximum at P^* , it is non-decreasing when $P \leq P^*$ and non-increasing when $P \geq P^*$. Thus, the optimal sum relay power in this case can be expressed as

$$P_{\text{opt}} = \min(P^*, P_{R, \lim}). \tag{3.15}$$

Finally, the optimal power control coefficient for each relay under sum relay power constraint can be easily obtained by using (3.15) in (3.11).

Unfortunately, we are unable to analytically investigate the network performance in this case since the optimal solution can only be found numerically. Numerical simulation results of the network performance will be shown in Section 3.3.

3.3 Simulation

In this section, we present the simulation results for multi-relay network with a sum relay power constraint on all relays. We also compare the proposed scheme with the fixed relay power scheme and the SNR-maximizing scheme.

Channels are randomly generated as i.i.d. circularly symmetric complex Gaussian with zero-mean and unit-variance in our simulation. The main criterion we use to evaluate the network is the average PN-SNR. Meanwhile, we also simulate the average end-to-end received SNR and the outage probability as alternative criteria for the performance evaluation.

We simulate the average PN-SNR, the average received SNR and the outage probability with threshold $\gamma_{\rm th} = 0$ dB for the proposed PN-SNR-maximizing scheme, the SNR-maximizing scheme, and the fixed relay power scheme. In the fixed relay power scheme, the sum power on relays is fixed for each transmission regardless of the channel quality. For fair comparisons, this fixed power is set to be the average sum relay power P in the proposed scheme. In the SNR-



Fig. 3.2: Average PN-SNR versus P_0 for a two-relay network with sum relay power constraint.



Fig. 3.3: Average SNR versus P_0 for a two-relay network with sum relay power constraint.



Fig. 3.4: Outage probability versus P_0 for a two-relay network with sum relay power constraint.

maximizing scheme, the relays always use the maximum sum power $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ to achieve the maximum SNR. The power control coefficient for each relay is obtained according to (3.11). We simulate a two-relay network with the sum power constraint $P_{R,\text{lim}} = 2P_0$ and $P_{R,\text{lim}} = 4P_0$.

Fig. 3.2 shows the average PN-SNR versus P_0 for the three schemes. In the PN-SNR-maximizing scheme, the average PN-SNR slightly increases as $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ changes from $2P_0$ to $4P_0$. In the fixed relay power scheme, the average PN-SNR slightly decreases as $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ increases. In the SNR-maximizing scheme, the average PN-SNR sharply decreases as $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ increases. This is the same trend as in single-relay networks. Among the three schemes, the proposed scheme always achieves the highest PN-SNR. When $P_{R,\text{lim}} = 2P_0$ and $P_0 = 30$ dBW, the proposed scheme outperforms the fixed relay power scheme and the SNR-maximizing scheme in term of PN-SNR by 3.8% and 14%, respectively, and the percentage turns to 4% and 48% when $P_{R,\text{lim}} = 4P_0$.

Fig. 3.3 shows the average end-to-end received SNR versus P_0 for the three schemes. We can see that in the SNR-maximizing scheme, the average SNR

increases significantly as $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ increases from $2P_0$ to $4P_0$. But in both the proposed scheme and the fixed relay power scheme, the average SNR increases but saturates quickly. When $P_{R,\text{lim}} = 2P_0$ and $P_0 = 30$ dBW, the average SNR in the proposed scheme is 0.2 dB better than the fixed relay power scheme but 1 dB worse than the SNR-maximizing scheme. When $P_{R,\text{lim}} = 4P_0$ and $P_0 = 30$ dBW, the average SNR in the proposed scheme is 0.15 dB better than the fixed relay power scheme, while about 2 dB worse than the SNR-maximizing scheme. The simulation results indicate that the proposed scheme is better than the fixed relay power scheme where the same power source is used while it is inferior compared with the SNR-maximizing scheme.

Fig. 3.4 shows the outage probability versus P_0 for the three schemes. Note that for all three schemes, the outage probabilities decreases as $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ grows from $2P_0$ to $4P_0$. When $P_{R,\text{lim}} = 2P_0$, our proposed scheme outperforms the fixed relay power scheme by about 0.4 dB, but it is 1 dB inferior to the SNR-maximizing scheme. When $P_{R,\text{lim}} = 4P_0$, our proposed scheme is 0.6 dB superior to the fixed relay power scheme but is about 1.8 dB inferior to the SNR-maximizing scheme. We can see that the gap between the proposed scheme and the SNR-maximizing scheme grows larger as $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ increases.

3.4 Summary

In this chapter, we investigated the PN-SNR maximization problem in multirelay network design under a sum power constraint on the relays. The problem was simplified into a one-dimensional problem and proved to have unique maximum. Then, gradient-ascent algorithm was used as an optimal numerical solution and the performance of the proposed design was compared with the fixed relay power scheme and the SNR-maximizing scheme.

We can conclude from the derivations and the simulation results that the PN-SNR-maximizing scheme is more power efficient than the other two schemes. Compared with the fixed relay power scheme with the same power resource, the proposed scheme also outperforms in outage probability. In the SNR-maximizing scheme, more power is used to achieve a better outage probability compared with our proposed scheme. But the efficiency of consumed power is low in the sense of producing received SNR. Our results indicate that there is a tradeoff between PN-SNR and received SNR.

Chapter 4

Multi-Relay Network Design Using PN-SNR Under Individual Relay Power Constraints

Even though the sum relay power constraint model in Chapter 3 has been widely studied in literature, it is not practical in many wireless applications in the sense that relays may not be able to share power in most distributed networks. In this chapter, we investigate the power control design using PN-SNR in multi-relay network, where each relay has an individual power constraint. We use the same network topology as depicted in Fig. 3.1 in Chapter 3, but different power constraints are considered. In Section 4.1, we consider the basic PN-SNR maximization problem where each relay has its own power constraint. In addition to the basic PN-SNR maximization problem in Section 4.1, we also consider the QoS-constrained PN-SNR maximization problem under individual power constraint on each relay in Section 4.2. Section 4.3 concludes the works in this chapter.

4.1 Basic PN-SNR Maximization

In this section, we formulate and solve the basic PN-SNR maximization problem in multi-relay network with separate relay power constraints. The same network topology in Fig. 3.1 in Chapter 3 is considered. But in this chapter, we assume that the *i*th relay has its own power constraint denoted as $P_{i,\lim}$.

4.1.1 Problem Formulation

Since the same transceiver design in Chapter 3 is considered, the SNR formula in (3.7) and the PN-SNR formula in (3.8) can be used in this Chapter. Recall the power consumed on the *i*th relay in (3.3), our PN-SNR maximization problem under separate power constraints can be described as

$$\max_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \succeq 0} \qquad \frac{(\boldsymbol{\alpha}^T \mathbf{b})^2}{(1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{d}\|^2)(1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{a}\|^2)}$$

s. t.
$$0 \le \alpha_i \le \sqrt{\frac{P_{i,\lim}}{1 + P_0 |f_i|^2}}, \text{ for } i = 1, \cdots, R,$$
(4.1)

where $\mathbf{a} = \left[\sqrt{\frac{1}{P_0} + |f_1|^2} \cdots \sqrt{\frac{1}{P_0} + |f_R|^2}\right]$ as defined in Section 3.1.

This is a non-convex optimization problem in which finding the globally optimal solution is usually sophisticated. We first propose a numerical algorithm to obtain the optimal solution. Next, we provide a low-complexity algorithm to find a suboptimal solution for the problem. The performance of the suboptimal solution is simulated and compared with that of the optimal solution.

4.1.2 Optimal Solution

We first examine the Karush-Kuhn-Tucker (KKT) conditions for (4.1) to better understand the problem. In general, the KKT conditions are not sufficient optimality conditions for non-convex problems. With linear constraint, however, the KKT conditions are necessary optimality conditions. With straightforward calculations, KKT conditions of the problem in (4.1) can be derived as

$$\alpha_i \left(\alpha_i - \sqrt{\frac{P_{i,\lim}}{1 + P_0 |f_i|^2}} \right) \frac{\partial \eta}{\partial \alpha_i} = 0.$$

The optimal solution will either be an inner point of the feasible set satisfying $\nabla_{\alpha}\eta = 0$ or be a boundary point meaning that there exists at least one *i*, such that $\alpha_i = 0$ or $\alpha_i = \sqrt{\frac{P_{i,\lim}}{1+P_0|f_i|^2}}$. If the optimal solution is an inner point, we will show later with Lemma 3 that it can be easily found by gradient-ascent

algorithm. However, if it is on the boundary, gradient-ascent algorithm can only converge to a stationary point which may not even be locally optimal [78]. The uniqueness of locally optimal solution of (4.1) is not guaranteed either.

When the optimal solution is on the boundary, the constraints in (4.1) are satisfied with equality for some i, which means some relays will transmit with zero or maximum power. The difficulty lies in determining which relay transmit with zero or maximum power. Exhaustive search for these relays has exponential complexity in the number of relays, and thus, it is obviously impractical. The same problem is encountered in [37] and [53], where optimal and suboptimal relay ordering criteria are proposed to reduce the complexity. In our problem, however, optimal relay ordering criteria may not exist.

Thus, we combine sequential quadratic programming (SQP) algorithm [79] with scatter search to obtain the globally optimal solution. The former algorithm is guaranteed to converge to a locally optimal solution [80] and the latter search starts SQP algorithm from different randomly selected initial points for a number of times to find the globally optimal solution.

SQP algorithm is widely used in solving nonlinear optimization problems whose main idea is to solve a non-convex problem by successive convex approximation [81]. It is also a gradient based iterative algorithm. At each major iteration, a Taylor series approximation of the objective function (or Lagrangian function if nonlinear constraints are involved) at a local iteration point is made. Then, an approximation of the Hessian matrix of the objective function is used to generate a convex quadratic programming (QP) subproblem whose solution is used to form a direction for the next iteration. With properly selected step size, SQP algorithm will converge to a local optimum in finite iterations for arbitrarily small error tolerance. In our simulations, we use Matlab's optimization toolbox to implement the SQP algorithm.

This SQP algorithm is more computationally complex compared with the gradient-ascent algorithm. According to [80], the rate of convergence of SQP algorithm is at best super-linear. Meanwhile, a QP subproblem is involved in each iteration and the SQP algorithm is run several times to find the globally optimal solution. Due to the disadvantage in complexity, the optimal solution proposed in this subsection is mainly used as a benchmark for performance evaluation.

4.1.3 Suboptimal Solution

In this subsection, we will discover a computationally more affordable algorithm to find a suboptimal solution. Recall that in single-relay and multi-relay networks with a sum relay power constraint, while solving the PN-SNR maximization problems, we first find the optimal solutions without any power constraint then project the optimal solution into the feasible set. In both cases, it is either a one-dimensional problem or it can be simplified into a onedimensional problem in which the projection preserves the optimality. In the PN-SNR maximization problem with separate power constraints on relays, however, projection no longer preserves optimality. Nevertheless, the same methodology can be used to obtain a suboptimal solution. We first ignore the power constraints in (4.1) and focus on the following problem

$$\max_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \succeq 0} \quad \frac{(\boldsymbol{\alpha}^T \mathbf{b})^2}{(1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{d}\|^2)(1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{a}\|^2)}.$$
(4.2)

The following property for the objective function in (4.2) is proved.

Lemma 3 The objective function in (4.2) has unique maximum for $\alpha \succeq 0$.

Proof. The problem in (4.2) and (3.9) have the same objective function while the constraint in (3.9) is $P_0 \| \boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{a} \|^2 < P_{R,\text{lim}}$. Thus, (4.2) can be viewed as a special case of (3.9) when $P_{R,\text{lim}}$ is infinity, where the sum relay power constraint is eliminated. According to Lemma 2, the problem in (3.9) has a unique maximum for all $P_{R,\text{lim}}$. Thus, the maximum for (4.2) is unique.

With Lemma 3, the globally optimal solution for problem (4.2) can be easily located with the gradient-ascent algorithm used in Section 3.2. We denote the optimal solution for (4.2) as $\boldsymbol{\alpha}^*$. Our suboptimal solution for (4.1), denoted as $\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{\text{sub}}$, is obtained by truncating those entries of $\boldsymbol{\alpha}^*$ whose amplitudes exceed $\sqrt{\frac{P_{i,\lim}}{1+P_0|f_i|^2}}$, i.e.,

$$\alpha_i^{\text{sub}} = \min\left(\alpha_i^*, \sqrt{\frac{P_{i,\lim}}{1+P_0|f_i|^2}}\right) \text{ for } i = 1, \cdots, R.$$

In fact, we know from previous discussion that α^{sub} is the optimal solution if it is an inner point of the feasible set. If it is a boundary point, α^{sub} is suboptimal. We will see in the next section that this suboptimal solution actually has close-to-optimal performance.

4.1.4 Simulation

In this subsection, we investigate the performance of a multi-relay network with an individual power constraint on each relay. We simulate the average PN-SNR, the average received SNR and the outage probability with threshold $\gamma_{\rm th} = 0$ dB for the PN-SNR-maximizing scheme (denoted as "Proposed") and compare them with the SNR-maximizing scheme (denoted as "SNR-max") and the all maximum scheme (denoted as "All-max"). In the SNR-maximizing scheme, the optimal beamforming design proposed in [37] is employed to maximize the end-to-end received SNR. In the all maximum scheme, all relays transmit with their maximum power.



Fig. 4.1: Average PN-SNR versus P_0 for a two-relay network with separate relay power constraints.



Fig. 4.2: Average SNR versus P_0 for a two-relay network with separate relay power constraints.



Fig. 4.3: Outage probability versus P_0 for a two-relay network with separate relay power constraints.



Fig. 4.4: Average PN-SNR versus number of relays for networks with separate relay power constraints.

We first simulate a two-relay network and assume that all nodes have the same power constraint i.e, $P_{i,\text{lim}} = P_0$ for i = 1, 2. Next, the average PN-SNR in networks with more that two relays is also simulated.

Fig. 4.1 shows the average PN-SNR versus P_0 for the three schemes in two-relay networks. First, we can see that the PN-SNR of the suboptimal solution is almost the same as the optimal solution. Also, the proposed PN-SNR-maximizing scheme outperforms the other two schemes in terms of the PN-SNR. When $P_0 = 30$ dBW, we can read from the plot that our proposed scheme is superior by 20.4% and 40% compared with the other two schemes.

Fig. 4.2 shows the average received SNR versus P_0 for the three schemes in two-relay networks. We observe that the proposed scheme is comparable in average received SNR with the other two scheme. When $P_0 = 30$ dBW, the proposed scheme is inferior by about 0.8 dB with the SNR-maximizing scheme and by 0.4 dB with the all maximum scheme. It is noteworthy that even though the all maximum scheme achieves better average received SNR, it dose not perform well in outage probability. Fig. 4.3 shows the outage probability versus P_0 for the three schemes in two-relay networks. We can see that the proposed scheme is 0.7 dB worse in outage probability than the SNR-maximizing scheme. By reading from the slopes of the outage curves, we can also see that the all-maximum scheme loses diversity order while the other two schemes achieve full diversity.

Fig. 4.4 shows the average PN-SNR in networks with different numbers of relays. The transmit power on transmitter and each relay is set to be 10 dBW. We can first see that our suboptimal solution performs as well as the optimal solution. In the proposed PN-SNR-maximizing scheme, the average PN-SNR increases linearly with the number of the relays. In the SNR-maximizing scheme, however, the average PN-SNR increases with a significant smaller rate and saturates as the number of the relays increases. For the all-maximum scheme, the average PN-SNR remains unchanged as the number of the relays increases.

4.2 QoS-Constrained PN-SNR Maximization

In this section, we consider the QoS-constrained PN-SNR maximization problem under individual power constraint on each relay as an extension of the problem in the last section. In the problem formulation, we consider one more constraint on the QoS in order to maintain the SNR at the receiver.

4.2.1 Problem Formulation

According to the basic problem in (4.1) and the expression of received SNR in (3.7), the QoS constrained PN-SNR maximization problem under individual power constraint on each relay can be formulated as

$$\max_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \succeq 0} \quad \frac{(\boldsymbol{\alpha}^T \mathbf{b})^2}{(1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{d}\|^2)(1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{a}\|^2)}$$
(4.3)

s. t.
$$0 \le \alpha_i \le \sqrt{\frac{P_{i,\lim}}{1+P_0|f_i|^2}}, \text{ for } i = 1, \cdots, R,$$
 (4.4)

$$SNR = \frac{P_0(\boldsymbol{\alpha}^T \mathbf{b})^2}{1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{d}\|^2} \ge SNR_{th}.$$
(4.5)

In (4.3) to (4.5), we try to maximize the PN-SNR while maintaining service quality. The first R constraints in (4.4) are equivalent to $P_i \leq P_{i,\text{lim}}$, which are the individual power constraints for the relays. The second constraint in (4.5) is introduced to guarantee the QoS at the receiver.

Note that the problem is not concave in general and finding the globally optimum is usually sophisticated. We herein propose a low complexity suboptimal solution.

4.2.2 Suboptimal Solution

We first ignore the separate power constraints in (4.4) and focus on the following problem

$$\max_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \succeq 0} \quad \frac{(\boldsymbol{\alpha}^T \mathbf{b})^2}{(1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{d}\|^2)(1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{a}\|^2)}$$
(4.6)

s. t.
$$SNR \ge SNR_{th}$$
. (4.7)

We introduce the symbol P for the sum relay power and rewrite (4.6) to (4.7) as

$$\max_{P} \quad \frac{1}{P_0 + P} \left(\max_{\boldsymbol{\alpha} \succeq 0} \frac{P_0(\boldsymbol{\alpha}^T \mathbf{b})^2}{1 + \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{d}\|^2} \right)$$
(4.8)

s. t.
$$P = P_0 \|\boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{a}\|^2, 0 \le P < \infty,$$
 (4.9)

$$SNR \ge SNR_{th}.$$
 (4.10)

The inner problem in (4.8) to (4.10) can be solved with the results in Chapter 3 and the optimal power control coefficient for each relay is in (3.11).

With the results in (3.11), (4.8) to (4.10) can be reduced to a one-dimensional problem in finding P as follow:

$$\max_{P} \sum_{i=1}^{R} \frac{|f_i|^2 |g_i|^2 P_0 P}{(|f_i|^2 P_0 + |g_i|^2 P + 1)(P + P_0)}$$
(4.11)

s. t.
$$P = P_0 \| \boldsymbol{\alpha} \circ \mathbf{a} \|^2, 0 \le P < \infty,$$
 (4.12)

$$SNR = \sum_{i=1}^{R} \frac{|f_i|^2 |g_i|^2 P_0 P}{|f_i|^2 P_0 + |g_i|^2 P + 1} \ge SNR_{th}.$$
 (4.13)

The left-hand-side of (4.13) is the received SNR of the network. We can observe that it is an increasing function of P. Thus, (4.11) to (4.13) can be equivalently expressed as

$$\max_{P} \qquad \sum_{i=1}^{R} \frac{|f_i|^2 |g_i|^2 P_0 P}{(|f_i|^2 P_0 + |g_i|^2 P + 1)(P + P_0)} \tag{4.14}$$

s. t.
$$P_{\rm th} \le P < \infty,$$
 (4.15)

where $P_{\rm th}$ is the unique solution of the following equation:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{R} \frac{|f_i|^2 |g_i|^2 P_0 P}{|f_i|^2 P_0 + |g_i|^2 P + 1} - \text{SNR}_{\text{th}} = 0.$$
(4.16)

It is the minimum total relay power needed to satisfy the SNR constraint.

To solve (4.14) to (4.15), it is shown in Lemma 3 that the objective function in (4.14) has a unique maximum, denoted as P^* . In addition, we can also show that the objective function is non-decreasing when $P \leq P^*$ and non-increasing when $P \geq P^*$. Thus, the optimal P for (4.14) to (4.15), and equivalently (4.6) to (4.7), can be expressed as

$$P = \max(P^*, P_{\rm th}).$$
 (4.17)

In summary, the solution of the problem in (4.6) to (4.7) is given by (4.17) and (3.11). Note that the problem in (4.6) to (4.7) is a relaxation of our original problem in (4.3) to (4.5) by ignoring the separate relay power constraints. So the derived solution may not satisfy the constraints in (4.4). To find a solution that satisfies the constraints in (4.4), we truncate those entries of α^* that violate the constraints as follows:

$$\alpha_i^{\text{sub}} = \min\left(\alpha_i^*, \sqrt{\frac{P_{i,\lim}}{1+P_0|f_i|^2}}\right) \text{ for } i = 1, \cdots, R.$$
 (4.18)

By this truncation, the solution in (4.18) satisfies all separate constraints and can be a suboptimal solution for the problem in (4.3) to (4.5).

It is noteworthy that the suboptimal solution guarantees to satisfy the power constraints of the relays but may not satisfy the SNR constraint. If the SNR constraint is not satisfied, we claim that no solution is found and no

Algorithm 1 Suboptimal solution.

- 1. For the given P_0 , find the unique maximum P^* of the objective function in (4.11) using a gradient-ascent algorithm.
- 2. Obtain the solution of (4.6) to (4.7). Calculate $P_{\rm th}$ by solving (4.16) using Newton's algorithm. if (4.16) has no solution, then the problem is infeasible. else $P = \max(P^*, P_{\rm th})$ and obtain $\boldsymbol{\alpha}^*$ according to (3.11).
- 3. Truncate $\boldsymbol{\alpha}^*$ according to (4.18) and obtain $\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{\text{sub}}$.
- Calculate the corresponding received SNR.
 if SNR < SNR_{th}, then claim that no solution is found.

transmission can be made. There are two scenarios that can lead to no solution being found: 1) Problem (4.3) to (4.5) is infeasible, which means that the power constraints and the SNR constraint cannot be satisfied simultaneously; and 2) the problem is feasible but the truncation in (4.18) reduces the received SNR and makes it fall below the threshold. We summarize the suboptimal solution as Algorithm 1.

The suboptimal solution only involves two gradient-ascent numerical algorithms, one for the search of $P_{\rm th}$ and the other for the search of P^* . Thus, the overall complexity is low. When ${\rm SNR}_{\rm th} = -\infty$ dB, problem (4.3) to (4.5) reduces to the PN-SNR maximization under separate relay power constraints without the QoS constraint discussed in previous section. On this occasion, Algorithm 1 also applies.

4.2.3 Simulation

In this section, we present the simulated performance of our proposed PN-SNR maximizing scheme with a constraint on the received SNR. We also compare the proposed scheme with the SNR-maximizing scheme (denoted as "SNR-max") and the all maximum scheme (denoted as "All-max"). In the SNR-maximizing scheme, the beamforming design of [37] is used for the highest received SNR. In the all maximum scheme, all relays transmit with full power.

We simulate and compare the average PN-SNR and the average throughput for the three schemes in a two-relay network. In our simulations, we assume that all nodes have the same power constraint, i.e., $P_{1,\text{lim}} = P_{2,\text{lim}} = P_0$. For



Fig. 4.5: Average PN-SNR versus \mathcal{P}_0 for a two-relay network.



Fig. 4.6: Probability of no transmission versus P_0 for a two-relay network.



Fig. 4.7: Average throughput versus P_0 for a two-relay network.

the proposed scheme, we consider three SNR thresholds, $\text{SNR}_{\text{th}} = -\infty \text{ dB}$, 0 dB, and 5 dB. We assume no transmission if no solution is found. In this case, the throughput is 0 but the PN-SNR is not applicable, i.e., the PN-SNR is the average over cases where suboptimal solutions can be found. We also simulate the probability of no transmission of the proposed scheme.

Fig. 4.5 shows the average PN-SNR versus P_0 for the three schemes. For the proposed scheme, we can see that when P_0 is smaller than 18 dBW, the curve with larger SNR_{th} achieves higher PN-SNR. This is because when P_0 is smaller than 18 dBW, the probability of no transmission is not negligible and the average PN-SNR value is based on scenarios where the SNR constraint is satisfied. On the other hand, when P_0 is higher than 18 dBW, the probability of no transmission is very small. In this case, we observe that the average PN-SNR for different SNR_{th} values are about the same and keeps increasing as P_0 increases. Compared with the other two schemes, our proposed scheme is significantly superior in average PN-SNR. When $P_0 = 30$ dBW, we can read from the plot that our proposed scheme outperforms the SNR maximizing scheme by about 13% and outperforms the all maximum scheme by about 38%.

Fig. 4.6 shows the probability that no solution is found or no transmission can be made. We see that the probability of no transmission decreases quickly as the transmitter power increases. With $\text{SNR}_{\text{th}} = 5 \text{ dB}$, when P_0 is 18 dBW, the probability of no transmission is 0.45%. When P_0 increases to 22 dBW, the probability decreases to 0.1%. The same trend is observed when $\text{SNR}_{\text{th}} = 0$ dB.

Fig. 4.7 shows the average throughput versus P_0 for the three schemes. For the proposed scheme, we observe that when P_0 is smaller than 18 dBW, the average throughput is lower for larger SNR_{th}. As P_0 increases, the average throughput with different SNR_{th} values are about the same. The average throughput of the proposed scheme is about 0.25 bit/s/Hz inferior compared with the SNR-maximizing scheme for P_0 greater than 18 dBW. Compared with the all maximum scheme, it achieves the same average throughput.

We can conclude from Fig. 4.5 to Fig. 4.7 that the proposed scheme achieves higher PN-SNR and comparable average throughput compared with the other two schemes. The probability of no transmission decreases quickly as the transmitter power increases. When the transmitter power is small, with higher QoS constraint, the probability of no transmission gets higher; the average throughput decreases, but the the PN-SNR of the network increases. It makes sense in AF relay networks. When the transmitter power is small, the received signals at the relays are highly noisy and the noises are amplified in the second step. In this case, we cannot acquire a satisfactory received SNR and no transmission will help save power.

4.3 Summary

In this chapter, we first investigated the basic PN-SNR maximization problem in multi-relay network with separate power constraints. Then, the QoSconstrained PN-SNR maximization problem in multi-relay network with separate power constraints is considered as an extension. For the basic PN-SNR maximization problem, we studied the optimal solution, which functions as performance benchmark. Then, we proposed a low complexity suboptimal solution for the problem. The suboptimal solution was numerically shown to have close-to optimal performance. For the QoS-constrained PN-SNR maximization problem, we proposed a low complexity suboptimal solution based on the basic PN-SNR maximization problem.

We can conclude from Section 4.1 that our PN-SNR-maximizing scheme is more efficient than the other two schemes in using transmit power to provide the received SNR. This scheme also has comparable network performance with the SNR-maximizing scheme in two-relay networks with $P_{i,\text{lim}} = P_0$ for i = 1, 2. Even though there is a trade-off between the PN-SNR and the received SNR, the PN-SNR can be a promising measure in designing energy efficient networks.

We can conclude from Section 4.2 that the proposed scheme achieves higher PN-SNR with comparable performance in the average throughput compared with the other two schemes. And the probability of no transmission decreases quickly as the transmitter power increases. When the transmitter power is small, with higher QoS constraint, the probability of no transmission gets higher; the average throughput decreases, but the the PN-SNR of the network increases.

Chapter 5 Conclusion and Future Work

5.1 Thesis Summary

In this thesis, we adopted PN-SNR in relay network beamforming design and investigated the potential of PN-SNR in efficiency measure. Specifically, PN-SNR maximization problems were formulated and solved in relay networks with different configurations. Network performance of such PN-SNR maximizing scheme (average PN-SNR, average received SNR, outage probability, and throughput) was analyzed or simulated.

In single-relay network, we found the optimal relay power shomem in closeform and evaluated the network performance under such scheme. The performance was analytically and numerically compared with existing schemes. Our observations showed that the proposed scheme achieves better PN-SNR. The proposed scheme has comparable average received SNR with existing schemes. Meanwhile, it has asymptotic optimal outage performance compared with the SNR-maximizing scheme.

In multi-relay network with a sum power constraint on relays, we simplified the PN-SNR maximization problem into a one-dimensional problem in finding the optimal sum power and proved that the problem has unique maximum. The network performance was numerically simulated using gradient-ascent algorithm and compared with existing schemes. We observed that with the same power resource, the proposed scheme has comparable performance in the average SNR and is better in outage probability compared with fixed relay power scheme. Also, the proposed scheme has considerably higher PN-SNR with moderate degradation in outage probability compared with the SNRmaximizing scheme.

In multi-relay network with individual power constraint on each relay, we investigated the basic PN-SNR maximization problem and the QoS constraint PN-SNR maximization problem. For the former problem, we proposed an optimal solution and a low complexity suboptimal solution. For the latter problem, a low complexity suboptimal solution was proposed. Network performance was numerically simulated and compared with existing schemes. We observed that the proposed scheme achieves better PN-SNR than the SNRmaximizing scheme and the all-maximum scheme. The proposed scheme is also comparable in average received SNR and outage probability with the SNR maximization scheme.

The derivations and analysis in this thesis indicated that PN-SNR can be used as a new efficiency measure in relay network beamforming design.

5.2 Future Work

There are several possible directions for future research on PN-SNR. A few are listed below:

1. PN-SNR maximization in multi-relay network with relay selection

We have worked on PN-SNR design for multi-relay network under beamforming. While beamforming can significantly improve the network performance, it requires channel state information (CSI) at the relays. Meanwhile, synchronization among relays is also hard to implement. Another widely used scheme in multi-relay network is relay selection. Relay selection can be implemented with partial CSI at the relays and it simplifies the synchronization at relays. Thus, relay selection design using PN-SNR can be studied in the future. We will present some preliminary results on relay selection design using PN-SNR later.

2. PN-SNR maximization with DF protocol

We have considered AF transmission protocol in this thesis. A natural extension is using PN-SNR in relay network design under DF transmission protocol.

3. PN-SNR maximization for multi-user and multi-relay network

In this thesis, network with one transmitter and one receiver have been considered. As a generalization, multi-user multi-relay network design using PN-SNR can be studied in the future. In these designs, the pairwise PN-SNR can be defined and the problem can be formulated as maximizing the minimum pairwise PN-SNR.

5.2.1 Preliminary Results on Relay Selection Design Using PN-SNR

In this subsection, we present some preliminary results on relay selection design using PN-SNR in multi-relay network.

Different from the beamforming design where all relays participate into cooperation, only partial relays are selected to help forward the information in the relay selection design. Relay selection design has been widely studied in literature [38, 49, 53, 82]. Some of these works considered the single-relay selection scheme where only one relay is selected to cooperate [38, 49, 82]. It has been proved that the capacity/realibility optimal single-relay selection scheme is to choose the relay whose path has the maximum received SNR. The author in [53] investigated the multi-relay selection design and proposed several suboptimal schemes. Most of the aforementioned selecting schemes are based on the received SNR and the selected relay transmit with its maximum power. However, such designs may not be power efficient.

In our design, we consider the single-relay selection scheme where the path with the maximum PN-SNR is selected. The selected relay may not transmit with its maximum power but adjust the power for the highest PN-SNR. We focus on the same system model as depicted in Fig. 3.1 in Chapter 3. A two-step AF protocol is used for relay transmission. Recall the derivations in Chapter 2, the received SNR for the *i*th path can be expressed as

$$SNR_{i} = \frac{|f_{i}g_{i}|^{2}P_{i}P_{0}}{1 + |f_{i}|^{2}P_{0} + |g_{i}|^{2}P_{i}} \approx \frac{|f_{i}g_{i}|^{2}P_{i}P_{0}}{|f_{i}|^{2}P_{0} + |g_{i}|^{2}P_{i}},$$
(5.1)

and the corresponding PN-SNR for the *i*th path is

$$\eta_i = \frac{|f_i g_i|^2 P_i P_0}{(1 + |f_i|^2 P_0 + |g_i|^2 P_i)(P_i + P_0)} \approx \frac{|f_i g_i|^2 P_i P_0}{(|f_i|^2 P_0 + |g_i|^2 P_i)(P_i + P_0)}, \quad (5.2)$$

where P_0 is transmitter power and P_i is the power consumed on the *i*th relay.

Thus, our PN-SNR maximization problem in multi-relay network with single-relay selection can be formulated as

$$\max_{i} \max_{P_{i}} \frac{|f_{i}g_{i}|^{2}P_{i}P_{0}}{(1+|f_{i}|^{2}P_{0}+|g_{i}|^{2}P_{i})(P_{i}+P_{0})}$$
s. t. $0 \leq P_{i} \leq P_{i_lim}$, for $i = 1, \cdots, R$, (5.3)

Note that the inner problem in (5.3) aims at finding the optimal relay power for the *i*th path. Then, the path with maximum PN-SNR is chosen for transmission. The inner problem has been solved in Chapter 2 with the optimal solution for the *i*th path

$$P_{\text{opt}_i} = \min\left(\frac{\sqrt{P_0(1+|f_i|^2 P_0)}}{|g_i|}, P_{i_\text{lim}}\right) \approx \min\left(\frac{|f_i|}{|g_i|} P_0, P_{i_\text{lim}}\right).$$
(5.4)



Fig. 5.1: Average PN-SNR versus \mathcal{P}_0 for relay selection.



Fig. 5.2: Average received SNR versus ${\cal P}_0$ for relay selection.



Fig. 5.3: Outage probability versus ${\cal P}_0$ for relay selection.

We numerically simulate the performance of this selection design. Specifically, We simulate the average PN-SNR, the average received SNR and the outage probability with threshold $\gamma_{\rm th} = 0$ dB for the proposed PN-SNRmaximizing selection scheme (denoted as "Proposed") and compare the performance with the SNR-maximizing selection scheme (denoted as "SNR-maxsel") mentioned in [53]. In our simulation, we assume that there are two relays and all nodes have the same power constraint, i.e, $P_{i,\lim} = P_0$ for i = 1, 2.

We observe from Fig. 5.1 to Fig. 5.3 that the proposed PN-SNR maximizing selection scheme achieves better PN-SNR than the SNR maximizing selection scheme. Meanwhile, the proposed scheme has comparable performance in average received SNR and outage probability with the SNR maximizing selection scheme. It achieves the same diversity order as the SNR maximizing selection scheme, which is proved to have full diversity. The simulation results indicate that PN-SNR is also potential in the design of multi-relay network with relay selection.

Bibliography

- [1] G. L. Stüber. *Princple of Mobile Communication*. Springer, 3rd edition, 1996.
- [2] J. Proakis and M. Salehi. *Digital Communications*. McGraw-Hill, 5th edition, 2007.
- [3] A. Goldsmith. *Wireless Communications*. Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- [4] D. N. C. Tse and P. Viswanath. Fundamentals of Wireless Communication. Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- [5] T. M. Duman and A. Ghrayeb. Coding for MIMO Communication Systems. John Wiley & Sons, 2007.
- [6] T. S. Rappaport. Wireless Communications: Principles and Practice. Prentice Hall, 1996.
- [7] M. K. Simon and M. S. Alouini. Digital Communication over Fading Channels: A Unified Approach to Performance Analysis. John Wiley & Sons, 2000.
- [8] A. Hottinen and O. Trikkonen. Multi-Antenna Transciever Techniques for 3G and Beyond. John Wiley & Sons, 2003.
- [9] E. Biglieri, R. Calderbank, A. Constantinides, A. Goldsmith, A. Paulraj, and H. V. Poor. *MIMO Wireless Communications*. Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- [10] A. Sibille, C. Oestges, and A. Zanella. MIMO: From Theory to Implementation. Academic Press, 2010.
- [11] G. J. Foschini and M. J. Gans. On limits of wireless communications in a fading environment when using multiple antennas. *Wireless Personal Communications*, 6:311–335, 1998.
- [12] P. Driessen and G. Foschini. On the capacity for multiple input-multiple output wireless channels: a geometric interpretation. *IEEE Transactions* on Communications, 47(2):173–176, February 1999.
- [13] E. Telatar. Capacity of multi-antenna gaussian channels. *European Transactions on Telecommunications*, 10(6):585–595, December 1999.
- [14] B. Vucetic and J. Yuan. *Space-Time Coding*. John Wiley & Sons, 2003.

- [15] H. Jafarkhani. Space-Time Coding: Theory and Practice. Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- [16] B. D. V. Veen and K. M. Buckley. Beamforming: a versatile approach to spatial filtering. *IEEE ASSP Magazine*, 5:4–24, April 1988.
- [17] T. M. Cover and J. A. Thomas. Elements of Information Theory. John Wiley & Sons, 2nd edition, 2006.
- [18] K. J. R. Liu, A. K. Sadek, W. Su, and A. Kwasinski. Cooperative Communications and Networking. Cambridge University Press, 2008.
- [19] M. Dohler and Y. Li. Cooperative Communications: Hardware, Channel and PHY. John Wiley & Sons, 2010.
- [20] C. J. Kuo Y. W. P. Hong, W. Huang. Cooperative Communications and Networking: Technologies and System Design. Springer, 2010.
- [21] E. C. van der Meulen. Transmission of information in a T-terminal discrete memoryless channel. PhD thesis, Department of Statistics, University of California, Berkeley, 1968.
- [22] T. M. Cover and A. E. Gamal. Three-terminal communication channels. Advanced Applied Probability, 3:120–154, 1971.
- [23] T. M. Cover and A. E. Gamal. Capacity theorems for the relay channel. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 25(5):572–584, September 1979.
- [24] M. R. Aref. Information flow in relay networks. PhD thesis, Stanford University, 1980.
- [25] M. R. Aref and A. E. Gamal. On information flow in relay networks. In *Proc. of IEEE National Telecommunications Conference*, volume 2, 1981.
- [26] A. Sendonaris, E. Erkip, and B. Aazhang. User cooperation diversity. part I: System description. *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, 51(11):1927–1938, November 2003.
- [27] A. Sendonaris, E. Erkip, and B. Aazhang. User cooperation diversity. part II: Implementation aspects and performance analysis. *IEEE Transactions* on Communications, 51(11):1939–1948, November 2003.
- [28] J. N. Laneman. Cooperative diversity in wireless networks: algorithms and architectures. PhD thesis, MIT, 2002.
- [29] J. N. Laneman, D. N. C. Tse, and G. W. Wornell. Cooperative diversity in wireless networks: Efficient protocols and outage behavior. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 50(12):3062–3080, December 2004.
- [30] J. N. Laneman and G. W. Wornell. Distributed space-time coded protocols for exploiting cooperative diversity in wireless networks. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 49(10):2415–2425, October 2003.
- [31] B. Schein and R. Gallager. The gaussian parallel relay network. In *Proc.* of *IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory*, 2000.

- [32] B. Schein. Distributed coordination in network information theory. PhD thesis, MIT, 2001.
- [33] M. A. Khojastepour. Distributed Cooperative Communications in Wireless Networks. PhD thesis, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Rice University, 2004.
- [34] Y. Jing and B.Hassibi. Distributed space-time coding in wireless relay networks. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 5(12):3524– 3536, December 2006.
- [35] Y. Jing and H. Jafarkhani. Using orthogonal and quasi-orthogonal designs in wireless relay networks. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 53(11):4106–4118, November 2007.
- [36] P. Larsson. Large-scale cooperative relaying network with optimal combining under aggregate relay power constraint. In *Proc. Future Telecommunications Conference*, pages 160–170, Beijing, China, December 2003.
- [37] Y. Jing and H. Jafarkhani. Network beamforming using relays with perfect channel information. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 55(6):2499–2517, June 2009.
- [38] Y. Zhao, R. Adve, and T. J. Lim. Improving amplify-and-forward relay networks: Optimal power allocation versus selection. *IEEE Transactions* on Wireless Communications, 6(8):3114–3123, August 2007.
- [39] Y. Jing and S. Shahbazpanahi. Max-min optimal joint power control and distributed beamforming for two-way relay networks under per-node power constraint. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, June 2012. Accepted.
- [40] Q. Cao, Y. Jing, and V. Zhao. Power allocation in multi-user wireless relay networks through bargaining. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 2013. Accepted.
- [41] D. Wang, X. Wang, and X. Cai. Optimal power control for multi-user relay networks over fading channels. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 10(1):199–207, October 2011.
- [42] D. Wang, X. Wang, and X. Cai. Relay beamforming designs in multiuser wireless relay networks based on throughput maximin optimization. *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, 61(5):1739–1749, March 2013.
- [43] S. ShahbazPanahi and M. Dong. Achievable rate region under joint distributed beamforming and power allocation for two-way relay networks. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 11(11):4026– 4037, November 2012.
- [44] Q. Li, S. Ting, A. Pandharipande, and Y. Han. Adaptive two-way relaying and outage analysis. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 8(6):3288–3299, June 2012.
- [45] V. Havary-Nassab and S. Shahbazpanahi. Optimal distributed beamforming for two-way relay networks. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, 58(3):1238–1250, March 2010.

- [46] M. Janani, A. Hedayat, T. E. Hunter, and A. Nosratinia. Coded cooperation in wireless communications: Space-time transmission and iterative decoding. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, 52(2):362–371, February 2004.
- [47] G. Kramer, M. Gastpar, and P. Gupta. Cooperative strategies and capacity theorem for relay networks. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 51(9):3037–3063, September 2005.
- [48] Z. Yi and I. Kim. Joint optimization of relay-precoders and decoders with partial channel side information in cooperative networks. *IEEE Journal* on Selected Areas in Communications, 25(2):447–458, February 2006.
- [49] E. Koyuncu, Y. Jing, and H. Jafarkhani. Distributed beamforming in wireless relay networks with quantized feedback. *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, 26(8):1429–1439, October 2008.
- [50] V. Havary-Nassab, S. ShahbazPanahi, A. Grami, and Z. Luo. Distributed beamforming for relay networks based on second-order statistics of the channel state information. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, 56(9):4306–4316, September 2008.
- [51] B. Wang, J. Zhang, and A. Host-Madsen. On the capacity of mimo relay channels. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 51(1):29–43, January 2005.
- [52] A. Host-Madsen and J. Zhang. Capacity bounds and power allocation for the wireless relay channel. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 51(6):2020–2040, June 2005.
- [53] Y. Jing and H. Jafarkhani. Single and multiple relay selection schemes and their achievable diversity orders. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 8(3):1414–1423, March 2009.
- [54] J. M. Paredes and A. B. Gershman. Relay network beamforming and power control using maximization of mutual information. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 10(12):4356–4365, December 2011.
- [55] N. Ahmed, M. A. Khojastepour, and B. Aazhang. Outage minimization and optimal power control for the fading relay channel. In *Proc. IEEE Information Theory Workshop*, pages 458–462, October 2004.
- [56] G. Fettweis and E. Zimmerman. Ict energy consumption ctrends and challenges. In Proc. The 11th International Symposium on Wireless Personal Multimedia Communications, Lapland, Finland, 2008.
- [57] A. He, A. Amanna, T. Tsou, X. Chen, D. Datla, J. Gaeddert, T. R. Newman, S. Hasan, H. I. Volos, J. H. Reed, and T. Bose. Green communications: A call for power efficient wireless systems. *Journal of Communications*, 6(4):340–351, July 2011.
- [58] C. Yang and M. Ma. *Green Communications and Networks*. Springer, 2012.
- [59] J. Wu, S. Rangan, and H. Zhang. Green Communications: Theoretical Fundamentals, Algorithms and Applications. CRC Press, 2012.

- [60] E. Hossain, V. K. Bhargava, and G. P. Fettweis. Green Radio Communication Networks. Cambridge University Press, 2012.
- [61] S. Verdú. On channel capacity per unit cost. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 36(5):1019–1030, September 1990.
- [62] C. Jiang and L. J. Cimini. Energy-efficient multiuser mimo beamforming. In Proc. The 45th Annual Conference on Information Sciences and Systems, pages 1–5, Baltimore, USA, 2011.
- [63] C. Jiang and L. J. Cimini. Energy-efficient transmission for mimo interference channels. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 12(6):2988–2999, May 2013.
- [64] A. E. Gamal, M. Mohseni, and S. Zahedi. Bounds on capacity and minimum energy-per-bit for AWGN relay channels. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 52(4):1545–1561, April 2006.
- [65] Y. Yao, X. Cai, and G.B.Giannakis. On energy efficiency and optimum resource allocation of relay transmissions in the low-power regime. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 4(6):2917–2927, November 2005.
- [66] G. Y. Li, Z. Xu, C. Xiong, C. Yang, S. Zhang, Y. Chen, and S. Xu. Energyefficient wireless communications: tutorial, survey, and open issues. *IEEE Wireless Communications Magazine*, 18(6):28–35, December 2011.
- [67] G. Lim and L. J. Cimini. Energy-efficient cooperative beamforming in clustered wireless networks. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communi*cations, 12(3):1376–1385, March 2013.
- [68] Q. Sun, L. Li, and L. Song. Energy efficient relay selection for twoway relay system. In Proc. IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC Spring), May 2012.
- [69] S. Atapattu, Y. Jing, H. Jiang, and C. Tellambura. Relay selection and performance analysis in multiple-user networks. *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, 2012. Accepted.
- [70] R. Vahidnia and S. ShahbazPanahi. Multi-carrier asynchronous bidirectional relay networks: Joint subcarrier power allocation and network beamforming. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 2013. Accepted.
- [71] A. Ribeiro, X. Cai, and G. B. Giannakis. Symbol error probabilities for general cooperative links. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 4(3):1264–1273, May 2005.
- [72] Y. Hao, Y. Jing, and S. ShahbazPanahi. SNR-per-unit-power optimization in relay networks. In Proc. IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, May 2013.
- [73] F. Gao, T. Cui, and A. Nallanathan. On channel estimation and optimal training design for amplify and forward relay networks. *IEEE Transac*tions on Wireless Communications, 7(5):1907–1916, May 2008.
- [74] S. Sun and Y. Jing. Training and decodings for cooperative network with multiple relays and receive antennas. *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, 60(6):1534–1544, June 2012.
- [75] Y. Jing and X. Yu. ML-based channel estimations for non-regenerative relay networks with multiple transmit and receive antennas. *IEEE Journal* on Selected Areas in Communications, 30(8):1428–1439, September 2012.
- [76] A. Cambini and L. Martein. *Generalized Convexity and Optimization: Theory and Applications.* Springer, 2009.
- [77] A. I. Barros. Discrete and Fractional Programming Techniques for Location Models. Springer, 1998.
- [78] D. P. Bertsekas. Nonlinear Programming. Athena Scientific, 1999.
- [79] J. Nocedal and S. J. Wright. *Numerical Optimization*. Springer, 1999.
- [80] P. T. Boggsa and J. W. Tollea. Sequential quadratic programming. Acta Numerica, 4:1–51, January 1995.
- [81] M. Chiang. Nonconvex optimization in communication systems. Advances in Mechanics and Mathematics, III,(eds: D.Y. Gao and H.D. Sherali), 2006.
- [82] A. Bletsas, A. Khisti, D. P. Reed, and A. Lippman. A simple cooperative diversity method based on network path selection. *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, 24(3):659–672, March 2006.

Appendix A Proof of Theorem 1

We herein provide the proof of Theorem 1. Define $X \triangleq |f|$ and $Y \triangleq |g|$, then X and Y are Rayleigh distributed whose probability density function (pdf) is (1.4). The average of the relay power in (2.11) can be calculated as

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{E}\{P_{\text{approx}}\}\\ &= \int_{0}^{+\infty} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \min\left(\frac{x}{y}P_{0}, P_{R, \text{lim}}\right) 4xy \cdot e^{-(x^{2}+y^{2})} dxdy\\ &= \int_{0}^{+\infty} \left[\int_{0}^{\frac{P_{R, \text{lim}}}{P_{0}}y} 4P_{0}x^{2}e^{-(x^{2}+y^{2})} dx + \int_{\frac{P_{R, \text{lim}}y}{P_{0}}}^{+\infty} 4P_{R, \text{lim}}xye^{-(x^{2}+y^{2})} dx \right] dy\\ &= \int_{0}^{+\infty} \left\{ 2P_{0}e^{-y^{2}} \left[\frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2} \text{erf}\left(\frac{P_{R, \text{lim}}}{P_{0}}y\right) - \frac{P_{R, \text{lim}}y}{P_{0}}ye^{-\left(\frac{P_{R, \text{lim}}y}{P_{0}}\right)^{2}} \right] \right.\\ &+ 2P_{R, \text{lim}}ye^{-y^{2}}e^{-\left(\frac{P_{R, \text{lim}}}{P_{0}}y\right)^{2}} \right\} dy\\ &= \int_{0}^{+\infty} \sqrt{\pi}P_{0}e^{-y^{2}} \text{erf}\left(\frac{P_{R, \text{lim}}}{P_{0}}y\right) dy = P_{0} \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{P_{R, \text{lim}}}{P_{0}}\right). \end{split}$$

Recall the expression of the PN-SNR in (2.6) and also $\xi = \frac{P_{R,\text{lim}}}{P_0}$. With the relay power design in (2.11), the average PN-SNR can be calculated as

$$\begin{split} \eta_{\text{ave}} \\ &\approx \int_{0}^{+\infty} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{x^2 y^2 \min\left(\frac{x}{y} P_0, P_{R, \text{lim}}\right) 4x y e^{-(x^2 + y^2)}}{\left[x^2 P_0 + y^2 \min\left(\frac{x}{y} P_0, P_{R, \text{lim}}\right)\right] \left[P_0 + \min\left(\frac{x}{y} P_0, P_{R, \text{lim}}\right)\right]} dx dy \\ &= 4 \int_{0}^{+\infty} \int_{0}^{\xi y} \frac{x^3 y^3}{(x + y)^2} e^{-(x^2 + y^2)} dx dy + 4 \frac{\xi}{1 + \xi} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \int_{\xi y}^{+\infty} \frac{x^3 y^3}{x^2 + \xi y^2} e^{-(x^2 + y^2)} dx dy \\ &= 4 \int_{\tan^{-1}(\frac{1}{\xi})}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{\cos^3 \theta \sin^3 \theta}{(\cos \theta + \sin \theta)^2} d\theta + \frac{4\xi}{1 + \xi} \int_{0}^{\tan^{-1}(\frac{1}{\xi})} \frac{\cos^3 \theta \sin^3 \theta}{\cos^2 \theta + \xi \sin^2 \theta} d\theta \end{split}$$

$$=\frac{3}{8}\pi-\frac{3}{4}\tan^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{\xi}\right)-\frac{4\xi^3-7\xi^2-\xi}{4(\xi+1)(\xi-1)^2}+\frac{2\xi^2\ln\left(\frac{\xi^2+1}{\xi(\xi+1)}\right)}{(\xi-1)^3(\xi+1)}.$$

In the third step, we use the polar coordinate system and the integral that $\int_0^{+\infty} r^5 e^{-r^2} dr = 1$. From (2.5), the corresponding average SNR can be obtained in the same way as

 $\mathrm{SNR}_{\mathrm{ave}}$

$$\approx \int_{0}^{+\infty} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \frac{x^{2}y^{2} \min\left(\frac{x}{y}P_{0}, P_{R, \lim}\right)}{x^{2}P_{0} + y^{2} \min\left(\frac{x}{y}P_{0}, P_{R, \lim}\right)} 4xye^{-(x^{2}+y^{2})}dxdy$$

$$= 4P_{0} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \int_{0}^{\xi y} \frac{x^{3}y^{2}}{x+y}e^{-(x^{2}+y^{2})}dxdy + 4P_{0}\xi \int_{0}^{+\infty} \int_{\xi y}^{+\infty} \frac{x^{3}y^{3}}{x^{2} + \xi y^{2}}e^{-(x^{2}+y^{2})}dxdy$$

$$= 4P_{0} \int_{\tan^{-1}(\frac{1}{\xi})}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{\cos^{3}\theta \sin^{2}\theta}{\cos\theta + \sin\theta}d\theta + 4P_{0}\xi \int_{0}^{\tan^{-1}(\frac{1}{\xi})} \frac{\cos^{3}\theta \sin^{3}\theta}{\cos^{2}\theta + \xi \sin^{2}\theta}d\theta$$

$$= P_{0} \left[\frac{\pi}{8} - \frac{1}{4}\tan^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{\xi}\right) - \frac{3\xi^{3} + 5\xi}{4(\xi - 1)^{2}(\xi^{2} + 1)} - \frac{1}{4}\ln\left(\frac{(\xi + 1)^{2}}{\xi^{2} + 1}\right) + \frac{2\xi^{2}\ln\left(\frac{\xi^{2} + 1}{\xi(\xi - 1)^{3}}\right)}{(\xi - 1)^{3}}\right].$$

Defining $A \triangleq |f|^2$ and $B \triangleq |g|^2$, the outage probability can be expressed as

$$\begin{split} O &= \mathbb{P}\left(\mathrm{SNR} \leq \gamma_{\mathrm{th}}\right) = \mathbb{P}\left(\mathrm{SNR} \leq \gamma_{\mathrm{th}} \cap X \leq \xi Y\right) + \mathbb{P}\left(\mathrm{SNR} \leq \gamma_{\mathrm{th}} \cap X \geq \xi Y\right) \\ &\approx \mathbb{P}\left(\frac{X^2 Y P_0}{X + Y} \leq \gamma_{\mathrm{th}} \cap X \leq \xi Y\right) + \mathbb{P}\left(\frac{AB P_{R,\mathrm{lim}}}{A + \xi B} \leq \gamma_{\mathrm{th}} \cap A \geq \xi^2 B\right) \\ &= \mathbb{P}\left(Y \leq \frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}} X}{P_0 X^2 - \gamma_{\mathrm{th}}} \cap Y \geq \frac{X}{\xi} \cap P_0 X^2 \geq \gamma_{\mathrm{th}}\right) + \mathbb{P}\left(X \leq \xi Y \cap P_0 X^2 \leq \gamma_{\mathrm{th}}\right) \\ &+ \mathbb{P}\left(A \leq \frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}} \xi B}{P_{R,\mathrm{lim}} B - \gamma_{\mathrm{th}}} \cap A \geq \xi^2 B \cap B \geq \frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}}{P_{R,\mathrm{lim}}}\right) + \mathbb{P}\left(A \geq \xi^2 B \cap B \leq \frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}}{P_{R,\mathrm{lim}}}\right) \\ &= \int_{\sqrt{\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}}{P_0}}}^{\sqrt{\frac{(1+\xi)\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}}{P_0}} f_X(x) dx \left(\int_{\frac{x}{\xi}}^{\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}} x}{P_0 x^2 - \gamma_{\mathrm{th}}}} f_Y(y) dy\right) + \int_{0}^{\sqrt{\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}}{P_0}}} f_X(x) dx \left(\int_{\frac{x}{\xi}}^{+\infty} f_Y(y) dy\right) \\ &+ \int_{\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}}{P_{R,\mathrm{lim}}}}^{\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}}{P_0}} f_B(b) db \left(\int_{\xi^{2b}}^{\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}} xb}{P_{R,\mathrm{lim}} b - \gamma_{\mathrm{th}}}} f_A(a) da\right) + \int_{0}^{\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}}{P_0}} f_B(b) db \left(\int_{\xi^{2b}}^{+\infty} f_A(a) da\right) \\ &= \frac{\xi^2}{\xi^2 + 1} \left[1 - e^{-\left(1 + \frac{1}{\xi^2}\right)(1 + \xi)\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}}{P_0}}}\right] - e^{\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}}{P_0}} \int_{0}^{\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}}{\xi^2 P_0}} e^{-\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}^2}{P_0^2 u_1} - \frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}^2}{P_0^2 u_2} - u_2} du_2. \end{split}$$
(A.2)

$$\left[1 - e^{-\left(1 + \frac{1}{\xi}\right)\left(1 + \xi^2\right)\frac{\tau_{\rm th}}{\xi P_0}}\right] - e^{\left(1 + \frac{1}{\xi}\right)\frac{\tau_{\rm th}}{P_0}} \int_0^{\xi^2 P_0} e^{-\frac{\tau_0^2}{\xi P_0^2 u_2} - u_2} du_2. \tag{4}$$

The integral in (A.1) can be upper bounded by

$$\int_{0}^{\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}\xi}{P_{0}}} e^{-\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}^{3}}{P_{0}^{3}u_{1}^{2}} - \frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}^{2}}{P_{0}^{2}u_{1}} - u_{1}} du_{1} \leq \int_{0}^{\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}\xi}{P_{0}}} e^{-u_{1}} du_{1} = 1 - e^{-\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}\xi}{P_{0}}} = \frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}\xi}{P_{0}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{P_{0}^{2}}\right).$$

It can also be lower bounded by

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}\xi}{P_{0}}} e^{-\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}^{2}}{P_{0}^{3}u_{1}^{2}} - \frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}^{2}}{P_{0}^{2}u_{1}} - u_{1}} du_{1} \\ &\geq \int_{P_{0}^{-4/3}}^{\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}\xi}{P_{0}}} e^{-\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}^{3}}{P_{0}^{3}u_{1}^{2}} - \frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}^{2}}{P_{0}^{2}u_{1}} - u_{1}} du_{1} \geq e^{-\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}^{3}}{P_{0}^{3}(P_{0}^{-4/3})^{2}} - \frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}^{2}}{P_{0}^{2}P_{0}^{-4/3}}} \int_{P_{0}^{-4/3}}^{\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}\xi}{P_{0}}} e^{-u_{1}} du_{1} \\ &= \left(1 - \frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}^{3}}{P_{0}^{3}\left(P_{0}^{-4/3}\right)^{2}} - \frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}^{2}}{P_{0}^{2}P_{0}^{-4/3}}\right) \left(\frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}\xi}{P_{0}} - P_{0}^{-4/3}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{P_{0}^{4/3}}\right) \\ &= \frac{\gamma_{\mathrm{th}}\xi}{P_{0}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{P_{0}^{4/3}}\right). \end{split}$$

We can see that the dominant terms are the same for the upper and the lower bound. For the second integral, it can be shown in the same manner that

$$\frac{\gamma_{\rm th}}{\xi^2 P_0} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{P_0^{3/2}}\right) \le \int_0^{\frac{\gamma_{\rm th}}{\xi^2 P_0}} e^{-\frac{\gamma_{\rm th}^2}{\xi P_0^2 u_2} - u_2} du_2 \le \frac{\gamma_{\rm th}}{\xi^2 P_0} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{P_0^2}\right)$$

By using Taylor series expansion for large P_0 , the outage probability can be bounded as (2.15).

Appendix B Proof of Lemma 1

With the relay transmit power fixed as P for each transmission, the PN-SNR and the end-to-end received SNR can be expressed as

$$\eta_{\text{fix}} \approx \frac{|fg|^2 P P_0}{(|f|^2 P_0 + |g|^2 P)(P_0 + P)}, \quad \text{SNR}_{\text{fix}} \approx \frac{|fg|^2 P P_0}{|f|^2 P_0 + |g|^2 P}.$$

The average PN-SNR thus is

$$\begin{split} \eta_{\text{ave_fix}} &\approx \frac{P}{P+P_0} \int_0^{+\infty} \int_0^{+\infty} \frac{P_0 x^2 y^2}{P_0 x^2 + P y^2} 4xy \cdot e^{-(x^2+y^2)} dxdy \\ &= 4 \frac{P}{P+P_0} \int_0^{+\infty} \int_0^{+\infty} \frac{x^3 y^3}{x^2 + P/P_0 y^2} e^{-(x^2+y^2)} dxdy \\ &= 4 \frac{P}{P+P_0} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{\cos^3 \theta \sin^3 \theta}{\cos^2 \theta + P/P_0 \sin^2 \theta} \left(\int_0^{+\infty} r^5 e^{-r^2} dr \right) d\theta \\ &= \frac{PP_0}{(P-P_0)^2} - \frac{2P^2 P_0^2}{(P-P_0)^3 (P+P_0)} \ln \left(\frac{P}{P_0} \right). \end{split}$$

The average end-to-end received SNR can be easily derived as

$$SNR_{ave_{fix}} \approx \eta_{ave_{fix}}(P_0 + P) = \frac{PP_0(P + P_0)}{(P - P_0)^2} - \frac{2P^2P_0^2}{(P - P_0)^3}\ln\left(\frac{P}{P_0}\right).$$

The outage probability with SNR threshold $\gamma_{\rm th}$ can be derived as [49]

$$O_{\text{fix}} \approx 1 - e^{-\frac{\gamma_{\text{th}}}{P}} e^{-\frac{\gamma_{\text{th}}}{P_0}} 2\frac{\gamma_{\text{th}}}{P} \sqrt{\frac{P}{P_0}} K_1 \left(2\frac{\gamma_{\text{th}}}{P} \sqrt{\frac{P}{P_0}} \right)$$
$$= 1 - e^{-\frac{\gamma_{\text{th}}}{P} - \frac{\gamma_{\text{th}}}{P_0}} \left[1 - \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\ln(PP_0)}{PP_0}\right) \right] = \left(1 + \frac{1}{\zeta}\right) \frac{\gamma_{\text{th}}}{P_0} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\ln(P_0)}{P_0^2}\right)$$

This ends the proof.